# ACTUATE CORP Form 10-K March 16, 2005 Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

# **UNITED STATES**

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# **FORM 10-K**

x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004

OR

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 0-24607

# **Actuate Corporation**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

94-3193197 (I.R.S. Employer

**Identification Number**)

701 Gateway Boulevard

South San Francisco, California 94080

(Address of principal executive offices)

#### (650) 837-2000

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Common Stock, \$.001 par value

(Title of each class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes x No "

Based on the closing price as reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market as of the last business day of the Registrant s most recently completed second fiscal quarter (June 30, 2004), the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately \$150,256,000. Shares of common stock held by each executive officer and director and by each person who is known by the registrant to own 5% or more of the outstanding Common Stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates. Share ownership information of certain persons known by the Company to own greater than 5% of the outstanding common stock for purposes of the preceding calculation is based solely on information on Schedule 13G filed with the Commission. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.

As of February 28, 2005 there were 61,964,776 shares of the Registrant s common stock outstanding.

# DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information called for by Part III is incorporated by reference to specified portions of the registrant s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 120 days after the Registrant s fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

# **Annual Report on Form 10-K**

# for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

PART I		1
Item 1.	Business	1
Item 2.	Properties	10
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	10
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of the Security Holders	10
PART II		11
Item 5.	Market for Registrant s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	11
Item 6.	Selected Consolidated Financial Data	12
Item 7.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	13
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	37
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	37
Item 9	Changes In And Disagreements With Accountants On Accounting And Financial Disclosures	37
Item 9A.	Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures	38
Item 9B	Other Information	39
PART III		40
Item 10.	Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant	40
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	40
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	40
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	40
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	40
PART IV		41
Item 15.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K	41
SIGNATURES		43

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

# SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements in this report on Form 10-K under Business, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results, and elsewhere constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding Actuate s expectations, beliefs, hopes, intentions or strategies regarding the future. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievement to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among other things, those listed under Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results and elsewhere in this Report on Form 10-K. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of such statements. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements contained in this Report on Form 10-K after the date hereof or to conform such statements to actual results. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements and should carefully review the risk factors described in other documents Actuate files from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by Actuate during 2005.

#### PART I

#### ITEM 1. BUSINESS

#### Overview

Actuate Corporation (We, Actuate or the Company) provides an Enterprise Reporting Application Platform, a unified software platform that enables large organizations and packaged application software vendors to develop and deploy self-service, customer and employee-facing Enterprise Reporting Applications. Enterprise Reporting Applications are intuitive, Web portal-like reporting applications that empower 100% of users with decision-making information. The application experience is designed to fit seamlessly into the way in which individuals work, providing a readily accessible way for users to receive highly relevant information that is usable, dependable, and timely. Enterprise Reporting Applications allow organizations to gain real-time operational visibility, improve customer profitability, and distribute accountability throughout the organization. Our goal is to ensure that 100% of users adopt decision-making information into their day-to-day activities, opening up completely new avenues for improving corporate performance. With 100% user adoption of information, organizations can more easily grow revenues, improve service quality, control expenses, meet regulatory requirements, and increase efficiency.

Our Actuate 8 product line provides a platform upon which Global 9000 organizations (companies with annual revenues greater than \$1 billion) and packaged application software vendors develop and deploy mission-critical Enterprise Reporting Applications. Such Applications retrieve business information from corporate databases and deliver it as interactive Web pages, Excel spreadsheets, and analytic cubes to customers, partners and employees around the globe. Our products and services are used by our customers to develop and deploy Enterprise Reporting Applications across a range of business functions including financial management, sales management, account management, and customer self-service. Actuate 8 is a comprehensive platform that can be seamlessly integrated into any enterprise IT infrastructure and consists of a highly scalable and reliable Enterprise Reporting server and a robust development environment for building Enterprise Reporting Applications of any scale. Actuate 8 s powerful development architecture allows developers to create content from virtually any data source and present it in virtually any format required by users.

Actuate was incorporated in November 1993 in the State of California and reincorporated in the State of Delaware in July 1998. Actuate s principal executive offices are located at 701 Gateway Boulevard, South San

### **Index to Financial Statements**

Francisco, California. Actuate s telephone number is 650-837-2000. Actuate maintains a Web site a<u>t www.actuate.co</u>m. The information posted on the Web site is not incorporated into this Annual Report.

#### **Industry Background**

The emergence and acceptance of as well as the dependence on the Internet have fundamentally changed the way that consumers and businesses communicate, obtain information, purchase goods and transact business. Through the frequent and widespread usage of the Internet, users have developed a new set of expectations for accessing relevant and timely information.

While these new user expectations have been developing, organizations have been striving to improve corporate performance. A common strategy for improving performance has been to better leverage the information captured by applications that have been implemented to manage business process such as sales, service, finance, manufacturing and human resources. Organizations have been seeking to use the captured data to make informed decisions regarding both day-to-day operations and high-level strategies. These efforts have been largely unsuccessful due to the disruptive nature of traditional business intelligence tools used to access and analyze this data. Because these tools demand that users invest time and effort in learning new interfaces, user adoption has been low, and as a consequence, use of decision-making information throughout the organization has been limited.

In order to achieve 100% user adoption of decision-making information, and reap the resulting benefits in corporate performance, organizations are turning to developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications. These Enterprise Reporting Applications eliminate the traditional obstacles to user adoption by providing decision-making information through intuitive, Web portal-like interfaces that satisfy new user expectations for information accessibility and relevance.

#### **The Actuate Solution**

Actuate 8 is a unified software platform for developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications. The platform features a development architecture that is flexible enough to meet every user requirement for intuitively accessible and personalized information. Actuate 8 provides the industry s first real-time Enterprise Reporting Application Platform with integrated Enterprise Information Integration (EII) for developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications. Actuate 8 features a deployment architecture that is scalable enough to serve 100% of the user population throughout the enterprise and beyond. Actuate s Enterprise Reporting Application Platform consists of:

A set of products that provide Web pages, Microsoft Excel spreadsheets, and analytic cubes to present users with an intuitive, Web-portal like experience for accessing and interacting with decision-making information (e.Report Option, e.Report Designer, e.Spreadsheet Option, e.Spreadsheet Designer, e.Analysis Option, Actuate Query, and Actuate Analytics Option);

A comprehensive development environment to build, integrate, and maintain the core data access and reporting infrastructure of Enterprise Reporting Applications (e.Report Designer Professional, e.Spreadsheet Designer, Information Object Designer, and Analytics Designer); and

A unified metadata layer, which improves the overall accuracy of information analysis and is accessible by all products within Actuate s Platform.

Actuate 8 s key benefits include:

Increased user satisfaction and reduced support and training costs due to a zero-training analysis and reporting experience for users that leverages their existing expertise and skill sets;

Reduced hardware and maintenance costs for serving the information needs of large numbers of users due to a highly scalable information server;

2

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

Flexibility to meet all user requirements through powerful, programmatically extensible tools for developers;

Reduced development and maintenance costs due to a true, object-oriented development framework;

Flexibility to integrate with any software infrastructure through a complete Web services application programming interface;

Operational visibility that is dramatically improved through an EII option that supports the real-time integration of disparate data sources including ERP and CRM applications, data warehouses, legacy systems and other XML-based data sources;

Information Objects that present a sharable, reusable business-friendly data abstraction layer that allows IT to quickly create complex distributed queries that deliver operational information in real-time to all users across the enterprise;

New adoption monitoring capabilities that track usage of the system and enable customers to monitor progress towards 100% user adoption of their Enterprise Reporting Applications and identify the reports and analyses that are most and least useful to users;

e.Spreadsheet Cell Locking capability that enables companies to distribute live spreadsheets containing formulas and graphs that enable immediate what-if analysis while also protecting specified cells against alteration; and

e.Spreadsheet Matrix Script functionality that allows companies to easily generate live Excel spreadsheet reports that display hierarchical performance data based on any dimension, including geography, organizational structure, time or any other arbitrary dimensions specific to a business. It also enables the creation of spreadsheet reports that dynamically adjust based on the value of key metrics, providing users with immediate visibility into information that requires their attention,

#### Strategy

Our strategy is to be the leading provider of Enterprise Reporting solutions. Key elements of our strategy include:

*Expand Market Leadership Position through Strategic Relationships.* We believe that we have established a leading position in the market for Enterprise Reporting Applications. To accelerate the adoption of Actuate 8 as the standard Enterprise Reporting Application platform for Global 9000 companies, we have established strategic relationships with leading software application vendors, systems integrators, consulting firms and development partners. We intend to further develop our existing strategic relationships and enter into new partnerships to expand our market presence and leadership.

*Extend Technology Leadership.* Since inception, we have focused our research and development efforts on developing core technologies that address the requirements of developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications. Our products integrate a number of advanced technologies, including a patented method of providing page level security in a report, LDAP integration, advanced viewing technology incorporating Java, PDF, DHTML, Unicode, XML, and Web services, a patented method of storing report objects, a multi-tier architecture, Web access and delivery technology, EII data access technology and patent-pending spreadsheet technology. In addition, we have in the past rapidly incorporated new technology into our product offerings. We believe that we provide a leading Enterprise Reporting Application Platform technology and we intend to extend this leadership position by continuing to devote significant resources to research and development efforts,

# Table of Contents

and by acquiring and integrating complementary technologies.

**Broaden Distribution Channels.** To date, our products have been sold worldwide by our direct sales force and through our software application vendors, original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), resellers, and systems integrators. In the future, we intend to expand our direct sales force and telesales capability. In addition, we intend to continue to leverage and grow our existing network of OEMs, systems integrators, and resellers and expand our indirect distribution channel worldwide.

3

### **Index to Financial Statements**

*Focus on Key Application Areas.* Our technology is uniquely suited to meet customer requirements for Enterprise Reporting Applications for specific business functions such as financial management, customer self-service, sales management and account management. We intend to create a special focus on these areas within our sales and marketing functions as well as provide more complete customer solutions through targeted partnering and technology development.

*Leverage e.Services Capabilities.* We have established successful relationships with our customers by serving as an advisor in developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications. We are extending our direct e.Services capabilities to provide an expanded set of services to address areas such as Enterprise Reporting Application development strategy, project management, security integration and application design. In addition, we offer similar high-quality professional services capabilities through third-party alliances and are currently focused on the development of relationships with global and national systems integrators. By offering our clients a full range of e.Services on a global basis, we believe that we can broaden market awareness about the advantages of our Enterprise Reporting Application platform and create opportunities to sell new or additional products to clients.

*Increase International Presence.* We plan to increase our international operations. Outside North America, we have established subsidiaries in a number of countries and have reseller relationships throughout Europe, and the Asia/Pacific region. We have localized versions of our products in French, German, Spanish, and Japanese and we also support Chinese, Korean, and right-to-left reporting. We intend to expand our international operations by increasing our international sales force, expanding our indirect distribution channels worldwide and by continuing the localization of our products in selected markets.

#### **Products and Technology**

Actuate 8 is a unified software platform for developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications. Enterprise Reporting Applications provide decision-making information with the simplicity, consistency, and relevance necessary for adoption by 100% of users, both inside and outside the firewall. In the case of direct sales to end user customers, our products have been typically priced on either a per CPU basis or on a per named user basis. Our development products are typically priced on a per named user basis. Indirect sales are usually either fixed price, unlimited usage arrangements, or arrangements where royalties are paid to us based on sell through to end-users.

The following table sets forth the primary products that comprise Actuate 8:

Actuate Products	Product Description
Actuate iServer	Scalable information server for generating, managing, and securely delivering reporting and analytic content that is adopted by 100% of an organization s users.
Actuate Query Option	Web-based query tool for end-users of all levels of computing sophistication.
Actuate Analytics Option	Server option that provides Web-based Online Analytical Processing (OLAP) capabilities to power users, business analysts, and management.
Actuate Data Integration Option	Server option licenses Information Objects deployed on the server to combine data from two or more disparate data sources.
Actuate e.Report Option	Server option for generating enterprise reports for employees, customers, and business partners in browser-based Web formats.

Actuate e.Spreadsheet Option

Server option for generating, managing, and distributing critical business information over the Internet in easy-to-use and intuitive desktop spreadsheets.

# Index to Financial Statements

Actuate Products	Product Description
Actuate e.Analysis Option	Server option that delivers to users browser-based, interactive analysis of report data without requiring any configuration or warehousing of application data.
Actuate Page Level Security Option	This server option allows users to view reports using page-level security.
Actuate Analytics Cube Designer	Enables IT to control access to the data and define the structure of each cube delivered by the Actuate iServer. Additionally, enables IT to blend Analytics seamlessly into existing Enterprise Reporting Applications and provide a branded, personalized end-user experience that requires almost no training.
Actuate e.Report Designer Professional	Provides a comprehensive, object-oriented environment for professional developers to create tightly integrated, highly flexible enterprise reports for any Web-enabled application.
Actuate e.Report Designer	Wizard-driven development tool that enables Web developers to rapidly publish database information to the Web in the form of embedded, actionable reports.
Actuate e.Spreadsheet Designer	Development environment for creating flexible and customizable Excel-based spreadsheet reports.
Information Object Designer	Development environment that enables professional developers to create controlled views of enterprise data for end-user querying. Additionally, enables the creation of Information Objects that pull and integrate real-time data from any number of heterogeneous data sources.
Formula One e.Spreadsheet Engine	Provides an API-driven component that Java developers use to embed Excel reporting functionality into projects deployed from J2EE application and Web servers.
Formula One e.Report Engine	100% pure Java tool for extracting, formatting, and delivering data from a variety of data sources including Java objects inside applications, databases, Enterprise JavaBeans, and text files.
Formula One Active X component	Provides an API-driven, Excel-compatible spreadsheet component for building Windows applications in visual development environments such as Visual Basic and Visual C++.

## **Eclipse Business Intelligence and Reporting Tools Project**

Actuate joined the Eclipse Foundation, a community committed to the implementation of a universal platform for tools integration, as strategic developer and board member in August 2004. Actuate proposed a Business Intelligence and Reporting Tools (BIRT) project to the Eclipse open-source community for review at the same time. The Eclipse Foundation approved the project in September. Actuate is stewarding development of BIRT, which is expected to culminate in the industry s first open Business Intelligence and Reporting platform in the first half of 2005.

# Customers

Our customers operate in a wide variety of industries, including financial services, government, health care, manufacturing, pharmaceuticals, telecommunications, high technology, utilities, automotive, education, entertainment, travel, retail and others. International sales accounted for 21%, 18% and 23% of our total revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

# Index to Financial Statements

Sales

We sell our software and services worldwide through two primary means: (i) directly to corporate and government customers through our direct sales force and (ii) through indirect channel partners such as OEMs, systems integrators, and resellers.

*Direct Sales Organization.* Our direct sales force focuses its sales efforts primarily on Global 9000 companies. The direct sales process involves the generation of sales leads through Web-based marketing, direct mail, seminars and telemarketing. As part of the direct sales effort, our field sales force typically conducts demonstrations and presentations of our products to developers and managers at customer sites. Our telesales force conducts demonstrations via the Web and sells our products to new and existing customers over the phone. We maintain sales offices in a number of locations throughout North America, Europe and Asia/Pacific.

*OEM Sales Organization.* We have a separate sales force that addresses the OEM market. Our OEMs integrate our products with their applications and either resell or provide them in hosted environments to their customers. The OEM s end-user customer is licensed to use our products solely in conjunction with the vendor s application with which our products are integrated.

*Systems Integrators.* We have a business development group that focuses on establishing and maintaining relationships with systems integrators. Systems integrators typically re-market our products to their customer base as part of a software application being built for a customer. Systems integrators are offered discounts on our products and sell a full use license of the product. Our systems integrators do not provide post-sales support.

*Resellers.* Resellers are typically given the non-exclusive right to market our software in a specific territory and are offered discounts on our products. Resellers typically provide customers with some post-sales support and services.

#### Marketing

Our marketing organization is focused on generating leads, building market awareness and promoting acceptance of our Company and our products, as well as on developing strategic marketing, technology and other relationships. We have a comprehensive marketing strategy with several key components: image, awareness and credibility building, direct marketing to both prospective and existing customers, a strong Web presence, comprehensive sales support materials as well as broad-scale marketing programs in conjunction with key partners. Our corporate marketing strategy includes print advertising, public relations activities, trade shows and user group meetings. We also engage in programs to work closely with industry analysts and other influential third parties. Our direct marketing activities include extensive Web-based marketing campaigns, participation in selected trade shows and conferences and targeted ongoing direct mail and email efforts to existing and prospective customers. We also offer seminars, both in-person and over the Web, to educate prospective customers about our Enterprise Reporting Application platform. Finally, we have invested in building a partner and channel marketing function to conduct cooperative marketing programs with our partners.

#### e.Services

Our e.Services organization provides high value consulting services to customers developing and deploying Enterprise Reporting Applications with our products. These services include Enterprise Reporting Application development strategy, project management, security integration and application design. We also actively recruit and train third party consulting firms to provide consulting services for our products. Due to the critical nature of Enterprise Reporting Applications, we believe that our e.Services group and relationships with our consulting partners play a key role in facilitating initial license sales and enabling customers to successfully develop and deploy Actuate-based applications. In addition, we offer, directly and through our network of certified training partners, classes and training programs for our products.

<sup>6</sup> 

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

#### **Customer Service**

We believe that providing superior customer service is critical to successfully selling and marketing our products. Our maintenance and support contracts are typically for 12 months, and may be renewed annually. Maintenance fees are typically set at either a percentage of the total license fees paid by a customer or a percentage of the list price of the underlying products. Maintenance and support contracts entitle the customer to receive software patches, updates and enhancements, when and if available. Customers purchasing maintenance are able to access Actuate s local support centers located in the United States, Singapore, Switzerland and the United Kingdom via email and telephone during normal business hours. We supplement our telephone support with Web-based support services, including access to cases, resolutions, online Web forums and a software patch download area. We also offer an extended maintenance plan that gives our customers access to 24x7 support and additional support services. To improve access to our explanatory materials, we provide online documentation with all of our products.

#### **Research and Development**

Our research and development organization is divided into groups consisting of product managers, development engineers, quality assurance engineers, technical writers and developer communications personnel. Our development process begins with requirement specification, followed by functional and technical design, and concludes with implementation. Requirements are based on the needs of customers and prospects, as well as competitive, technological and industry factors. Our development group uses detailed processes and frequent milestones during the functional and technical design phases. During implementation, the product is built and tested daily and our quality assurance group verifies that functionality, quality and performance criteria are met. We have development centers located in South San Francisco, CA, Overland Park, KS, and Shanghai, China.

Research and development expenses were \$19.8 million, \$18.7 million and \$18.6 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We intend to continue to make substantial investments in research and development and related activities to maintain and enhance our product lines. We believe that our future success will depend on our ability to create products that directly address our customers needs, are of high quality, and leverage the latest technological innovations. These products must also support current and future releases of popular operating systems platforms, development languages, databases, Internet standards, and enterprise software applications. We intend to maintain and improve our current product line and to timely develop or acquire new products. Our ability to achieve future revenue growth will depend in large part on the market acceptance of our current and future products.

#### Competition

Our market is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving standards and new product releases by our competitors that are marketed to compete directly with our products. Our competition comes in four principal forms:

Competition from current or future business intelligence software vendors such as Business Objects, Cognos, Hyperion, Information Builders and MicroStrategy, which offer enterprise reporting products;

Competition from other large software vendors such as Microsoft, Oracle and SAP, to the extent they include reporting functionality with their applications or databases;

Competition from other software vendors and software development tool vendors; and

Competition from the IT departments of current or potential customers that may develop scalable Enterprise Reporting Applications internally, which may be cheaper and more customized than our products.

Most of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. These competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging

7

### **Index to Financial Statements**

technologies and changes in customer requirements or devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sales of their products than we may. Also, most current and potential competitors have greater name recognition and the ability to leverage a significant installed customer base. These companies have released and can continue to release competing enterprise reporting software products or significantly increase the functionality of their existing reporting software products. We expect additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the Enterprise Reporting Application market and new products and technologies are introduced.

#### **Intellectual Property Rights**

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology. For example, we license our software pursuant to shrink/click-wrap or signed license agreements that impose certain restrictions on licensees ability to utilize the software. In addition, we take precautions to avoid disclosure of our intellectual property. These precautions include requiring those persons with access to our proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements with us and by restricting access to our source code. We seek to protect our software, documentation, and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws, which afford only limited protection. We also have a small number of issued and pending U.S. patents expiring at varying times ranging from 2015 to 2019. The expiration of any such patents would not have a material effect on our business.

#### Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we had 480 full-time employees, including 151 in sales and marketing, 126 in research and development, 121 in services and support, and 82 in general and administrative functions. None of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have we experienced a work stoppage. We believe our employee relations are good. We also believe that our future success will depend in large part upon our continuing ability to attract and retain highly skilled managerial, sales, marketing, customer support and research and development personnel and, in particular, executive officers.

#### **Actuate Executive Officers**

Actuate s executive officers as of February 10, 2005 are as follows:

Name	Offices
Nicolas C. Nierenberg	Chairman of the Board and Chief Architect
Peter I. Cittadini	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
Daniel A. Gaudreau	Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration and
	Chief Financial Officer
Mark A. Coggins	Senior Vice President, Engineering
Thomas P. Ryan	Senior Vice President, Customer Service and Chief
	Information Officer
Ilene M. Vogt	Senior Vice President, Worldwide Operations
N. Nobby Akiha	Vice President, Marketing

Philip R. Strauss

General Counsel and Vice President, Corporate Development

*Nicolas C. Nierenberg*, 48, has been Chairman of the Board of Directors since he co-founded Actuate in November 1993 and became our Chief Architect in August 2000. Mr. Nierenberg was also Chief Executive Officer of Actuate from November 1993 until August 2000 and President from November 1993 until October 1998. Prior to founding Actuate, from April 1993 to November 1993, Mr. Nierenberg worked as a consultant for Accel Partners, a venture capital firm, evaluating investment opportunities in the enterprise software market. Mr. Nierenberg co-founded Unify Corporation, which develops and markets relational database development

8

### **Index to Financial Statements**

tools. Mr. Nierenberg held a number of positions at Unify including, Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, President, Vice President, Engineering and Chief Technical Officer. Mr. Nierenberg is currently a director for AwarePoint, a privately held software company, and is a member of the board of trustees for The Burnham Institute, a non-profit organization.

*Peter I. Cittadini*, 49, has been Chief Executive Officer of Actuate since August 2000 and has been the President of Actuate since October 1998. Mr. Cittadini was also Actuate s Chief Operating Officer from October 1998 until August 2000 and served as Actuate s Executive Vice President from January 1995 to October 1998. From 1992 to 1995, Mr. Cittadini held a number of positions at Interleaf, Inc., an enterprise software publishing company, including Senior Vice President of Worldwide Operations responsible for worldwide sales, marketing, customer support and services. From 1985 to 1991, Mr. Cittadini held a number of positions at Oracle Corporation, including Vice President, Northeast Division.

*Daniel A. Gaudreau*, 57, has been Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer since January 1999 and served as Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer from February 1997 to January 1999. From January 1994 to February 1997, Mr. Gaudreau served as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Plantronics, Inc., a publicly traded telephone headset manufacturing company, where he was responsible for all financial and administrative operations. From January 1990 to January 1994, Mr. Gaudreau was Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer at Ready Systems, an operating systems software company. Prior to that, Mr. Gaudreau spent two years at Apple Computer as the Controller of Fremont Manufacturing Operations, prior to which he spent 18 years at General Electric where he held various financial management positions. Mr. Gaudreau currently serves as a Director of BiTMICRO Networks, a privately held manufacturer of solid state storage devices.

*Mark A. Coggins,* 48, has been Senior Vice President, Engineering since October 2003. From May 2001 to April 2003, Mr. Coggins was Vice President, Engineering at Verisign, a publicly traded security software company. From January 1999 to April 2001, Mr. Coggins was Vice President, Products at ShortCycles, a CRM software company. Prior to that, Mr. Coggins held positions in engineering and marketing management at Netscape Communications, Interactive Development Environments and Hewlett Packard.

*Thomas P. Ryan*, 44, has been Senior Vice President, Customer Service and Chief Information Officer since January 2002 and served as Vice President and Director, Customer Service from August 1997 to December 2001. From June 1996 to July 1997, Mr. Ryan was a senior manager in the advanced support group at Informix. Prior to that, Mr. Ryan held various management positions at Illustra, Oracle Corporation and Amdahl.

*Ilene M. Vogt*, 46, has been Senior Vice President, Worldwide Operations since July 2002 and served as Senior Vice President and Vice President, North American Operations and Director, Western Region Sales from March 1995 to June 2002. From July 1991 to February 1995, Ms. Vogt was a Sales Manager for Interleaf, Inc.

*N. Nobby Akiha*, 47, has been Vice President, Marketing since August 2000. From August 1994 to July 2000, Mr. Akiha was Vice President, Marketing and Business Development at Inference Corporation. From October 1993 to July 1994, Mr. Akiha was a Senior Consultant at Regis McKenna, Inc. Prior to that, Mr. Akiha was Director of Marketing Communications at Interactive Development Environments and a Group Product Manager at Oracle Corporation.

*Philip R. Strauss, 36*, has been General Counsel and Vice President, Corporate Development since January 2005. Mr. Strauss was formerly Vice President and General Counsel of Brio Software (2000 to 2003), held positions as Corporate Counsel at Adobe Systems (2004 to 2005), Senior

Counsel at Hyperion Solutions (2003) and was an associate in the law firms Shearman & Sterling LLP and Jones Day. Mr. Strauss is currently a director of Data Beacon, a private software company.

### **Index to Financial Statements**

#### Website Access to Actuate s Reports

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge through our Website at <u>www.actuate.com</u> as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

### **ITEM 2. PROPERTIES**

Actuate s properties consist of leased facilities for sales and marketing, research and development, services and support and administrative personnel. Actuate s headquarters facilities consist of approximately 124,000 square feet in South San Francisco, California, of which approximately 50,000 square feet have been subleased. This facility lease is through April of 2011. Actuate also leases office facilities in various locations in the United States and abroad.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs and that additional space sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable future will be available on reasonable terms. As a result of our California facilities being located near major earthquake fault lines, in the event of an earthquake our business, financial condition and operating results could be seriously harmed. In addition, California has in the past experienced energy power shortages. If future power shortages result in numerous or prolonged brownouts or blackouts, our business, financial condition and operating results are leased under operating leases.

### ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome of such litigation, we believe we have adequate legal defenses and we believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these actions will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

### ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF THE SECURITY HOLDERS

We did not submit any matters to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.

# Index to Financial Statements

# PART II

# ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol ACTU and has been traded on Nasdaq since Actuate s initial public offering in 1998. The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices of our common stock during the last two years:

	High	Low
First Quarter of Fiscal 2003	\$ 2.90	\$ 1.25
Second Quarter of Fiscal 2003	\$ 3.15	\$ 1.33
Third Quarter of Fiscal 2003	\$ 3.77	\$ 2.50
Fourth Quarter of Fiscal 2003	\$4.21	\$ 2.69
First Quarter of Fiscal 2004	\$ 3.80	\$ 2.70
Second Quarter of Fiscal 2004	\$ 4.09	\$ 2.96
Third Quarter of Fiscal 2004	\$ 3.92	\$ 2.96
Fourth Quarter of Fiscal 2004	\$ 3.59	\$ 2.37

According to the records of Actuate s transfer agent, as of January 31, 2005, Actuate had 137 stockholders of record (which number does not include the number of stockholders whose shares are held by a brokerage house or clearing agency, but does include, as one record holder each such brokerage house or clearing agency). We believe we had approximately 7,000 beneficial owners of our common stock. On January 31, 2005, the closing price of our common stock was \$2.53 per share.

We have never paid a cash dividend on our common stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

#### **Equity Compensation Plan Information**

Information about our equity compensation plans at December 31, 2004, that were either approved or not approved by stockholders was as follows:

	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding	Weighted average exercise price of outstanding	Number of available securities remaining for future
Plan Category	options	options	issuance

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders (1)	17,609,896	\$ 2.97	9,919,240
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders (2)	1,469,237	\$ 2.02	619,110
Total	19,079,133	\$ 2.90	10,538,350

(1) Consists of five plans: our 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, Tidestone 1998 Incentive Stock Option Plan, Tidestone Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan of 1999, 1998 Non-Employee Directors Option Plan, and the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(2) Consists of one plan: our 2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan. See Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

#### **Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities**

Pursuant to the stock repurchase program announced in September 2001, Actuate s Board of Directors has authorized, on an on-going basis, the repurchase of up to \$1.5 million of Actuate common stock each calendar quarter. The Board of Directors had suspended the repurchase program for the fourth quarter of 2004, so we did not repurchase any shares in this quarter. However, the program was reinstated in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004. We repurchased approximately \$1.5 million of Actuate stock during the first quarter of fiscal year 2005.

11

# Index to Financial Statements

# ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto that are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated balance sheets data at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statements of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are derived from audited consolidated financial statements that are not included in this Form 10-K. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be anticipated in the future.

	Year ended December 31,				
	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
		(in thousa	nds, except per	share data)	
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:			<i>´</i> • •	,	
Revenues:					
License fees	\$ 42,703	\$ 47,598	\$ 58,280	\$ 79,106	\$ 72,286
Services	61,954	56,857	50,884	48,100	36,474
Total revenues	104,657	104,455	109,164	127,206	108,760
Costs and expenses:					
Cost of license fees	3,417	3,140	2,824	2,305	1,959
Cost of services	24,763	23,648	23,936	29,702	22,471
Sales and marketing	41,296	45,769	46,550	58,859	48,133
Research and development	19,847	18,732	18,576	19,011	14,938
General and administrative	10,856	12,220	12,724	10,853	7,015
Amortization of goodwill (in 2001 & 2000 only) and other intangibles	1,110	2,021	3,082	10,704	7,147
Purchased in-process research and development		600			
Restructuring charges	2,006		27,136	859	
Total costs and expenses	103,295	106,130	134,828	132,293	101,663
Income (loss) from operations	1,362	(1,675)	(25,664)	(5,087)	7,097
Interest and other income, net	822	720	769	1,148	891
Income (loss) before income taxes	2,184	(955)	(24,895)	(3,939)	7,988
Provision for income taxes	886	3,542	576	2,478	2,589
Net income (loss)	\$ 1,298	\$ (4,497)	\$ (25,471)	\$ (6,417)	\$ 5,399
Basic net income (loss) per share (1)	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)	\$ (0.11)	\$ 0.10
Shares used in basic per share calculation (1)	61,577	60,766	60,141	59,299	56,114
Diluted net income (loss) per share (1)	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)	\$ (0.11)	\$ 0.08

Shares used in diluted per share calculation (1)	65,202	60,766	60,141	59,299	64,483
			December 31,		
	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
			(in thousands)		
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:					
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments	\$ 47,273	\$ 45,439	\$ 44,867	\$ 39,807	\$ 26,928
Working capital	28,922	27,085	29,874	28,143	23,237
Total assets	105,455	101,406	108,436	117,391	98,322
Long-term liabilities, less current portion	12,885	15,453	17,754	2,080	2,182
Stockholders equity	46,945	45,181	48,423	71,077	56,977

(1) See Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of the method used to determine the number of shares used in computing net income (loss) per share.

12

### **Index to Financial Statements**

# ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The statements contained in this Report on Form 10-K that are not purely historical statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, including statements regarding our expectations, beliefs, hopes, intentions or strategies regarding the future. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those indicated in such forward-looking statements. See Risk Factors that May Affect Future Results and Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in this Report on Form 10-K and the risks discussed in other reports filed by us from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### Overview

We are a leading provider of an Enterprise Reporting Application Platform, a unified software platform that enables large organizations and packaged application software vendors to develop and deploy self-service, customer and employee-facing Enterprise Reporting Applications. Enterprise Reporting Applications are intuitive, Web portal-like reporting applications that empower 100% of users with decision-making information. Our Actuate 8 product line provides a platform upon which Global 9000 organizations (companies with annual revenues greater than \$1 billion) and packaged application software vendors develop and deploy mission-critical Enterprise Reporting Applications. These applications retrieve business information from corporate databases and deliver it as interactive Web pages, Excel spreadsheets, and analytic cubes to customers, partners and employees around the globe. Our products and services are used by our customers to develop and deploy Enterprise Reporting Applications across a range of business functions including financial management, sales management, account management, and customer self-service.

We began shipping our first product in January 1996. We sell software products through two primary means: (i) directly to end-user customers through our direct sales force and (ii) through indirect channel partners such as OEMs, resellers and system integrators. OEMs generally integrate our products with their applications and either provide hosting services or resell them with their products. Our other indirect channel partners resell our software products to end-user customers. Our revenues are derived from license fees for software products and fees for services relating to such products, including software maintenance and support, consulting and training.

Our total revenues for fiscal year 2004 were \$104.7 million, which were consistent with our prior fiscal year revenues of \$104.5 million. License revenues decreased by 10% from \$47.6 million in fiscal 2003 to \$42.7 million in fiscal year 2004. The decrease in license revenues was more than offset by growth in services revenues, which grew approximately 9% from \$56.9 million in fiscal 2003 to \$62.0 million in fiscal year 2004. This growth was primarily due to increases in maintenance pricing and the installed base of customers receiving ongoing maintenance and support.

For fiscal year 2004, net income was \$1.3 million or \$.02 per diluted share compared with a net loss of \$4.5 million or \$0.07 per share in fiscal year 2003. The improvement in profitability was due to lower expenses in fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year 2003. In fiscal year 2004, provision for income taxes was \$0.9 million compared to \$3.5 million in fiscal year 2003. The \$2.6 million decrease in the provision for income taxes was \$0.9 million increase in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in fiscal year 2003 when we determined that such deferred tax assets were no longer more likely than not to be realized. From fiscal year 2003 to fiscal year 2004, total costs and expenses also decreased by \$2.8 million. Various factors contributed to the decrease including a decline of approximately \$2.0 million in legal fees associated with the Microstrategy litigation. The court ruled in favor of us regarding this matter in June 2004.

North American total revenues decreased by approximately 3% during the year from \$85.0 million in fiscal year 2003 to \$82.3 million in fiscal year 2004, while revenues from our international regions increased 15% from \$19.4 million in fiscal year 2003 to \$22.4 million in fiscal year 2004. To date, we have sold our products

### **Index to Financial Statements**

internationally primarily through our subsidiaries in Europe and Asia/Pacific. During fiscal year 2004, we derived 21% of our total revenues from sales outside of North America while 18% of our total revenues were derived from sales outside North America in fiscal year 2003.

During fiscal year 2004, three trends had a significant impact on our results of operations. First, as an enterprise software vendor, we experienced a weak corporate spending environment for enterprise reporting applications. We currently believe that corporate IT budgets will grow only modestly in 2005. Second, in 2004 we continued to witness corporations consolidating their business intelligence and enterprise reporting software purchases into fewer suppliers. Corporations were reluctant to buy software from new vendors. This impacted our ability to acquire as many new Global 9000 customers as planned. If this trend continues, it will impact our business in 2005. Finally, for the past several years, we experienced vigorous competition in the enterprise reporting market. The existence of this competitive environment required additional sales and marketing efforts to differentiate our products, which resulted in extended sales cycles. We believe that competition in the enterprise reporting market will be vigorous in 2005.

During 2004, we announced four strategic initiatives that we are undertaking to help improve the sale of our software products in the future. These initiatives are as follows:

*Selling to IT Management* We intend to re-focus our sales efforts on selling our products to IT managers who we believe generally recognize the technical advantages of our products. We hope this initiative will result in increased license revenue in the short term.

*Solution Selling to Line-of-Business Management* We are creating software solutions to market to-line-of-business managers. These solutions will initially be related to financial management and reporting. We hope this initiative will result in increased license revenue over the medium-to-long term.

*Investing in the Business Intelligence Reporting Tool (BIRT)* We are continuing to make a significant investment in creating a new open source code reporting tool, known as BIRT. We hope that BIRT will eventually become widely adopted by Java developers and will create demand for our other commercially available products. The BIRT project is a long-term initiative.

*Selling to Global 9000 Corporations in the Financial Services Sector* - We intend to continue focusing on selling our products to Global 9000 financial services companies in an effort to increase our substantive market share in this sector.

As of December 31, 2004, we had 480 full-time employees, a net decrease of 55 employees, or 10%, in our workforce reported as of December 31, 2003. During 2004, 53 positions were eliminated through our announced restructurings and the remaining positions were eliminated through attrition. We expect that there will be an additional 13 positions eliminated in fiscal year 2005 resulting from our restructuring announced in October 2004. Approximately 87% of the positions that were eliminated in fiscal year 2004 occurred in our sales and marketing group.

In the first quarter of 2004 we recognized \$586,000 in severance, benefit and related legal costs when we initiated a restructuring of our French operations to size the operation to meet the expected business and economic environment for our products in France. This restructuring resulted in a workforce reduction of five people. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we implemented a second restructuring program. This was to further align our cost structure with future revenue expectations. We estimate that the restructuring plan will have eliminated approximately \$10.0 million in

# Table of Contents

operating costs annually. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities requires the recognition of costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. Therefore, only a portion of the costs associated with this restructuring are reflected in our results of operations for the fourth quarter of 2004. The total amount of these costs expensed during the quarter was approximately \$1.4 million. We expect further additional residual costs associated with this restructuring will be incurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005.

14

### **Index to Financial Statements**

In March 2004, we introduced a new price list with added focus on licensing our server products based on the number of named users as opposed to the number of CPUs. This change was made to allow for a lower entry price point for new customers as well as to address the increases in the performance of individual CPU s and the scalability of our software. Under our new licensing model, our server products can either be licensed on a CPU basis or on a named user basis. These named user licenses are sold in predefined user blocks. In conjunction with the introduction of named user pricing, we also significantly increased the list price for our CPU-based licenses. As maintenance and support is often priced as a percentage of software list price, in such cases, our pricing for maintenance has also increased accordingly.

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2004, the company began the implementation of a new enterprise accounting system. In accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, all appropriate implementation costs are being capitalized from the beginning of the implementation project until the date in which the system is substantially complete. We activated the new accounting system in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. However, we were still in the application development stage of the project and continue to incur significant costs to further modify the system through the first quarter of fiscal year 2005. Such costs continue to be capitalized in accordance with SOP No. 98-1 until the system is deemed to be substantially complete, which we expect to occur in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005. As of December 31, 2004, a total of \$2.7 million has been capitalized under this project. The total capitalized costs of this project are being amortized over an estimated useful life of seven years. Amortization began upon activation of the new system in August of fiscal year 2004.

During 2004, we implemented new requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and recently enacted rules of the SEC and Nasdaq. These efforts caused us to incur significant increased costs. In particular, the rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess our internal controls over financial reporting under Section 404 are new and complex, and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. This ongoing process of reviewing, documenting and testing our internal controls over financial reporting has resulted in, and will likely continue to result in, a significant strain on our management, information systems and resources. Furthermore, achieving and maintaining compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other new rules and regulations has required us to hire additional personnel and has and will continue to require us to use additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services.

During the course of the audit of Actuate Corporation s 2004 financial statements, the Company identified a material weakness in internal controls over financial reporting related to an audit adjustment identified by our external auditors, KPMG LLP, relating to the restructuring charge incurred in the fourth quarter of 2004. Specifically, a decision was made to vacate a foreign facility and a liability aggregating \$628,000 was recorded for costs to be incurred for its remaining term. However, as of December 31, 2004, we had not met all of the requirements under SFAS No. 146 to record this charge and, therefore, no liability should have been recorded. The liability is now expected to be recorded in the first quarter of 2005. The restructuring charge was corrected prior to completion of the audit and, as a result, this correction did not have any effect on reported year-end or previously reported financial results.

We have a limited ability to forecast future revenues and expenses, thus the prediction of future operating results is difficult and unreliable. In addition, historical growth rates in our revenues and earnings should not be considered indicative of future revenue or earnings growth rates or operating results. There can be no assurance that any of our business strategies will be successful or that we will be able to achieve and maintain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. It is likely that in some future quarter our operating results will be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors, and in such event the price of our common stock could decline.

**Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates** 

*General.* Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

### **Index to Financial Statements**

accepted in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent liabilities. On a regular basis, we evaluate estimates, including those related to bad debts, income taxes, restructuring, and litigation. Estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

*Revenue Recognition.* We recognize revenues in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2 (SOP 97-2), *Software Revenue Recognition*, as amended and modified by SOP 98-9, *Modification of SOP 97-2*, *Software Revenue Recognition*, *With Respect to Certain Transactions*. However, certain judgments affect the application of our revenue recognition policy. For example, we are required to exercise judgment in evaluating risk of concession when payments terms extend beyond the normal credit period ranging between net 30 to 60 days. In certain circumstances, we may grant extended payment terms to our customers. If such extended terms cause us to believe that the underlying fees are no longer fixed or determinable, we may recognize license revenues as payments become due and payable. Further, assessment of collectibility is particularly critical in determining whether revenues should be recognized in the current market environment. We also record a small provision for estimated sales returns on product and service related sales in the same period as the related revenues are recorded. These estimates does not properly reflect future returns, revenues could be overstated. For multiple- element arrangements that include software products, we allocate and defer revenue for the undelivered elements based on their vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value, which is generally the price charged when that element is sold separately. We are required to exercise judgment in determining whether VSOE exists for each undelivered element.

We have analyzed all of the elements included in our multiple element arrangements and determined that we have sufficient VSOE of fair value to allocate revenue to the underlying elements. Accordingly, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met, we recognize revenue from perpetual license sales upon delivery using the residual method in accordance with SOP 98-9. We recognize associated maintenance revenue ratably over the maintenance term and revenue from consulting and other services as the related services are performed.

*Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.* The Company s accounts receivable is subject to collection risks. Our gross accounts receivable is reserved against this risk through an allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance is for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. It is a significant estimate and is regularly evaluated by us for adequacy by taking into consideration a combination of factors. We look at factors such as past experience, credit quality of the customer, age of the receivable balance, and current economic conditions. These factors are reviewed to determine whether a specific reserve for bad debt should be recorded to reduce the related receivable to the amount believed to be collectible. We also specifically reserve for all outstanding domestic consulting, training, and maintenance renewal invoices which are older than a specified number of months past due.

The Company also records unspecified reserves for bad debt for all other customers based on a variety of factors, including length of time the receivables are past due and historical experience. A reserve percentage is applied to various aged categories of receivables based on historical experience to determine how much of an unspecified reserve is needed. The use of different estimates or assumptions could produce different allowance balances. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances might be required.

### **Index to Financial Statements**

*Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets.* A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. While we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for and amount of the valuation allowance, in the event we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of our net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income or reduce loss and increase shareholder s equity in the period such determination was made. Likewise, if we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be charged to income in the period such determination was made. Due to the current economic environment, increased competition, a history of net losses, and our uncertainty in projecting future taxable income, we have determined that we can no longer rely on projections of future taxable income to support the realization of our deferred tax assets. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2004, we recorded a \$1.1 million increase to the valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets generated in the current year.

*Contingencies.* We are or have been engaged in legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required, if any, for these contingencies are made after careful analysis of each individual matter. The required reserves may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in approach, such as a change in litigation or settlement strategy for a particular matter.

Accrual for Restructuring Charges. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2004 and 2002, we implemented certain restructuring plans that were a combination of reductions in workforce, exits of idle facilities and write-offs of fixed assets. The restructuring charges were based on actual and estimated costs incurred in connection with these restructuring plans. These estimates were impacted by the rules governing the termination of employees, especially those in foreign countries. In fiscal year 2002, we recorded a facility restructuring charge, which consisted of estimated future obligations for the non-cancelable lease payments and estimated costs associated with subleasing the property. We reduced the amount of the facility restructuring charge by the estimated amount of sublease income. The assumptions we made, which we periodically re-evaluate and adjust as appropriate, are based on estimates of such factors as future vacancy rates, the time required to sublease the property and sublease rates. These market conditions can fluctuate greatly due to such factors as changes in property occupancy rates and the rental prices charged for comparable properties. These changes could materially affect our accrual. If, in future periods, it is determined that we have over-accrued for restructuring charges for exiting the idle facilities, the reversal of such over-accrual would have a favorable impact on our financial statements in the period this was determined and would be recorded as a credit to restructuring charges. Conversely, if it is determined that our accrual is insufficient, an additional restructuring charge would be recorded and would have an unfavorable impact on our financial statements in the period this was determined.

*Valuation of Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangible Assets.* We evaluate our intangible assets for indications of impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Intangible assets consist of purchased technology, customer lists, non-compete agreements, experienced workforce, and trademarks. Factors that could trigger an impairment review include significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets, or the strategy for our overall business or significant negative industry or economic trends. If this evaluation indicates that the value of the intangible asset may be impaired, we make an assessment of the recoverabile, we will reduce the net carrying value of the related intangible asset to fair value and may adjust the remaining amortization period. Any such impairment charge could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our reported financial statements. We did not record any impairment charges on our intangible assets during fiscal year 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the net carrying amount of our intangible assets was \$3.1 million.

### **Index to Financial Statements**

We evaluate goodwill on an annual basis for indications of impairment based on our fair value as determined by our market capitalization in accordance with Statement of Financial Standards No. 142 (SFAS 142), Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets . If this evaluation indicates that the value of the goodwill may be impaired, we make an assessment of the impairment of the goodwill using the two-step method prescribed by SFAS 142. Any such impairment charge could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our reported financial statements. We did not record any impairment charges on our goodwill during fiscal year 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the carrying amount of our goodwill was \$20.8 million.

*Valuation of Minority Interest in Actuate Japan.* The minority shareholders of Actuate Japan have the option to put their 33.3% equity interest (Minority Interest) in Actuate Japan and we have the option to call the Minority Interest for approximately \$1.3 million as of December 31, 2004. Our policy is to record a loss, if any, at the time that the put or call is probable of being exercised. Should an indicator arise that the Minority Interest has declined in value below the exercise price of the put and call option, we would conclude that exercise is probable at that point in time and recognize a liability for the intrinsic value of the option. We periodically perform a valuation analysis of the Minority Interest. This valuation analysis includes assumptions regarding projected future cash flows and discount rates. Variances in these assumptions could have a significant impact on our conclusion as to whether a loss is probable and the amount of the loss. As of December 31, 2004, we concluded that a loss was not probable. We consolidate 100% of the operating results and all investments in the subsidiary are eliminated in consolidation.

*Recovery of Long-Lived Assets.* The Company evaluates the recovery of its long-lived assets periodically by analyzing its operating results and considering significant events or changes in the business environment.

#### **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of operations data as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated:

		Year Ended December 31,		
	2004	2003	2002	
Revenues:				
License fees	41%	46%	53%	
Services	59	54	47	
Total revenues	100	100	100	
	—			
Costs and expenses:				
Cost of license fees	3	3	2	
Cost of services	24	22	22	
Sales and marketing	40	44	43	
Research and development	19	18	17	
General and administrative	10	12	11	
Amortization of other intangibles	1	2	3	
Purchased in-process research and development		1		
Restructuring charges	2		25	

# Index to Financial Statements

Total costs and expenses	99	102	123
			—
Income (loss) from operations	1	(2)	(23)
Interest and other income, net	1	1	1
		—	
Income (loss) before income taxes	2	(1)	(22)
Provision for income taxes	1	3	1
Net income (loss)	1%	(4)%	(23)%

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### Revenues

Our revenues are derived from license fees and services, which include software maintenance and support, consulting, and training. Total revenues were \$104.7 million in fiscal year 2004 compared with \$104.5 million in fiscal year 2003 and decreased by 4% from \$109.2 million in fiscal year 2002 to \$104.5 million in fiscal year 2003. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenues for any of the periods presented.

*License Fees.* Revenues from license fees decreased by 10% from \$47.6 million in fiscal year 2003 to \$42.7 million in fiscal year 2004 and decreased by 18% from \$58.3 million in fiscal year 2002 to \$47.6 million in fiscal year 2003. The domestic total license revenue decreased by 16% from fiscal year 2004 to fiscal year 2003 whereas the international license revenues grew by 12% in fiscal year 2004 over fiscal year 2003. The 2004 increase in international license fees was primarily seen in our Japanese and Canadian subsidiaries, whose license fees grew by \$922,000 and \$439,000 from the prior year, respectively. Meanwhile, we saw a slight decrease in the 2004 license fees from the European regions from the prior year. The decrease in domestic license fee revenues from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to a weak corporate spending environment for enterprise reporting applications and a more competitive environment in our market niche. We have seen customers engage in vendor consolidation and our competitors have recently released competing products. These factors have had an adverse impact on the demand for our products in domestic markets. License revenues derived from our indirect channel partners, including OEMs, systems integrators and resellers, accounted for 13%, 30% and 32% of total revenues from license fees for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

*Services.* Revenues from services are comprised of maintenance and support, consulting, and training. Service revenues increased by 9% from \$56.9 million in fiscal year 2003 to \$62.0 million in fiscal year 2004 and increased by 12% from \$50.9 million in fiscal year 2002 to \$56.9 million in fiscal year 2003. The increases in service revenues from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2004 were primarily due to an increase in the worldwide installed base of customers receiving ongoing maintenance and support.

#### Costs and Expenses

*Cost of License Fees.* Cost of license fees consists primarily of production costs including printing and packaging, amortization of purchased technologies, and localization costs. Cost of license fees increased by 9% from \$3.1 million, or 7% of revenues from license fees, in fiscal year 2003 to \$3.4 million, or 8% of revenues from license fees, in fiscal year 2004. Cost of license fees increased by 11% from \$2.8 million, or 5% of revenues, in fiscal year 2002 to \$3.1 million in fiscal year 2003. The increase in cost of license fees in fiscal 2004 as compared to fiscal year 2003 was primarily due to a full year amortization of purchased technology as a result of our acquisition of Nimble Technology in fiscal year 2003 resulting in a net increase of \$370,000, increased printing and production costs of \$480,000 and an increase in royalties of \$430,000 due to third parties. These increases were offset by a \$360,000 decrease in localization costs. The increase in cost of license fees in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2003. We recognized \$1.5 million, \$1.2 million, and \$903,000 for the amortization of purchased technology in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We expect our cost of license fees as a percentage of revenues from license fees to gradually decrease in future periods primarily as a result of lower amortization of purchased technology.

*Cost of Services.* Cost of services consists primarily of personnel and related costs, facilities costs incurred in providing software maintenance and support, training and consulting services, as well as third-party costs incurred in providing training and consulting services. Cost of services increased by 5% or approximately \$1.2 million from \$23.6 million or 42% of service revenues, in fiscal year 2003 to \$24.8 million, or 40% of services revenues, in fiscal year 2004. Cost of services decreased by 1% from \$23.9 million, or 47% of services revenues, in fiscal year 2002 to

\$23.6 million in fiscal year 2003. The increase in cost of services in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2004 is primarily a result of the increase in service revenue during the year. Although service revenue in absolute dollars increased by \$5.1 million over fiscal year 2003, cost of services as a percentage of services revenues decreased from 42% in fiscal year 2003 to 40% in fiscal year 2004. This

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

decrease is due to the fact that the primary driver in the service revenue increase was derived from maintenance and support, which have considerably lower costs associated with them than consulting services. The decrease in cost of services as a percentage of services revenues during fiscal year 2003 was also primarily due to an increase in an on-going maintenance and support revenue while maintaining corresponding expenses at the prior year level.

*Sales and Marketing.* Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and bonuses earned by sales and marketing personnel, promotional expenses, travel, entertainment and facility costs. Sales and marketing expenses decreased by 10% from \$45.8 million, or 44% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2003 to \$41.3 million, or 40% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2004. Sales and marketing expenses decreased by 2% from \$46.6 million, or 43% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2002 to \$45.8 million in fiscal year 2003. Sales and marketing expenses decreased in fiscal year 2004 as compared to fiscal year 2003 due primarily to a reduction of \$3.5 million in marketing program expenses and a reduction of \$1.1 million in professional and outside consulting services, both as a result of the Company s efforts in fiscal year 2004 to focus on reducing overall marketing expenditures. Sales and marketing expenses also decreased in fiscal year 2004 as a result of a 24% decrease in headcount. This decrease in headcount was largely due to our two restructurings that were implemented globally. At the end of fiscal year 2004, we had 151 employees in sales and marketing, compared with 199 and 197 employees at the end of fiscal year 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales and marketing expense decreased slightly in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2003, of which approximately \$430,000 was accrued in prior years. See further discussion in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. We currently expect our sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenues to be in the range of 35-45% in future periods.

*Research and Development.* Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of personnel and related costs associated with the development of new products, the enhancement of existing products, quality assurance and testing. Research and development expenses increased by 6% from \$18.7 million, or 18% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2003 to \$19.8 million, or 19% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2004. Research and development expenses increased by 1% from \$18.6 million, or 17% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2002 to \$18.7 million in fiscal year 2003. The increase in fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to costs associated with the opening of our Shanghai research facility totaling approximately \$510,000. The increase in research and development expenses in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002 was primarily due to higher rent and facility related charges totaling \$517,000, as well as a slight increase in salaries and benefits related expenses of approximately \$115,000, both resulting from the acquisition of Nimble Technology in July 2003. Offsetting these increased expenses were lower depreciation expenses of \$243,000, lower consulting expenses of approximately \$200,000, and lower employee relations and other related charges of \$66,000 in fiscal year 2003. At the end of fiscal year 2004, we had 126 employees in research and development expenses as a percentage of total revenues for fiscal year 2004 and 2003 were due to the decline in our total revenues in fiscal years 2004 and 2003, as compared to total revenues for the same period in fiscal year 2002. We believe that continued investments in technology and product development are essential for us to remain competitive in the markets we serve. We expect research and development expenses to remain relatively stable in absolute dollars in the short-term.

*General and Administrative*. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs in finance, human resources, legal and tax functions, as well as audit and legal fees and bad debt expense. General and administrative expenses decreased by 11% from \$12.2 million, or 12% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2003 to \$10.9 million, or 10% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2004. General and administrative expenses decreased by 4% from \$12.7 million, or 12% of total revenues, in fiscal year 2002 to \$12.2 million or 12% of total revenues in fiscal year 2003. The \$1.4 million decrease in general and administrative expenses from fiscal year 2003 to fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to a decrease of \$2.0 million in legal costs associated with the MicroStrategy litigation, which ended favorably in fiscal year 2004. We also recorded a reversal of sales taxes of \$365,000 in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004 due to a favorable outcome on our Board of

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

Equalization audit. In addition, we negotiated a more favorable property and liability insurance premium, which lowered the expense by approximately \$260,000 in fiscal year 2004. These decreases were offset by increases in professional consulting fees and internal personnel costs of approximately \$1.2 million in fiscal year 2004 as a result of the Company s compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The slight decrease of \$500,000 in general and administrative expenses from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2003 was due to declines in depreciation expense of \$567,000, bad debt expense of \$500,000 and staffing related expenses of \$370,000. These decreases were offset by increases in legal and accounting expenses totaling approximately \$700,000 and property and liability insurance of \$200,000 in fiscal year 2003. We expect our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods due primarily to the implementation of a program to ensure compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and ongoing legal expenses.

*Amortization of Other Intangibles.* On January 1, 2002, we implemented Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SAFS 142), which addresses the financial accounting and reporting standards for goodwill and other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition. This accounting standard requires that goodwill no longer be amortized, and instead, be tested for impairment on a periodic basis. Accordingly, we discontinued the amortization of goodwill effective January 1, 2002. In addition, we reclassified \$2.3 million of acquired workforce, which is no longer defined as a separately identifiable intangible assets under SFAS 142, as goodwill. As a result, no acquired workforce amortization was recognized in fiscal year 2002.

The provisions of SFAS 142 required the completion of a transitional impairment test within six months of adopting the accounting standard and any impairments identified must be treated as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, we completed the transitional impairment test, which did not result in an impairment of recorded goodwill. The provisions of SFAS 142 also require an annual impairment test, which we completed on October 1, 2002, October 1, 2003 and October 1, 2004. None of these annual impairment tests resulted in an impairment of recorded goodwill.

Amortization of other intangible assets was \$2.6 million, \$3.2 million and \$4.0 million for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The net decrease in amortization of other purchased intangible assets in fiscal year 2004 as compared to fiscal year 2003 was primarily due to the customer base related to prior acquisitions in Europe that were fully amortized by the middle of fiscal year 2003. This resulted in a decrease of approximately \$1.0 million offset by an increase in the amortization of purchased technology and workforce of \$488,000 related to the acquisition of Nimble Technology, a development stage Company. The decrease in amortization of other purchased intangible assets in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002 was a result of the adoption of SFAS 142, which reclassified acquired workforce as goodwill and amortization was no longer required. We expect the estimated amortization expense of our existing other purchased intangible assets to be approximately \$1.0 million in fiscal year 2005.

*Purchased In-process Research and Development.* During the quarter ended September 30, 2003 and in connection with the acquisition of Nimble Technology, we recorded a charge to operations of \$600,000 for purchased in-process research and development. The purchased in-process research and development was expensed because it had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative uses. The value of the purchased in-process research and development was computed using a cost approach analysis, whereby the value of the purchased in-process research and development was determined by estimating the current cost of replacing the asset with one of equivalent economic utility. An independent third party determined the valuation of the purchased in-process research and development. We did not acquire any entities in fiscal year 2004 or 2002 and consequently did not record any purchased-in-process research and development costs.

*Restructuring Charges.* The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which are included in this Form 10-K.

During fiscal year 2002, we recorded a restructuring charge of \$27.1 million. This charge consisted of a \$24.8 million facility exit charge and \$2.3 million in costs related to the reduction of our worldwide workforce.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

The facility exit charge was the result of a long-term non-cancelable lease agreement that we entered into during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2000, in anticipation of a projected business expansion. During the third quarter of fiscal year 2002, we decided to exit this facility. The \$24.8 million facility exit charge consisted of \$21.5 million of estimated future obligations for the non-cancelable lease payments (net of \$10.2 million of estimated sublease income) and estimated costs associated with subleasing the property (e.g., leasing commissions). This facility exit charge also included a \$3.4 million write-off of property and equipment (primarily leasehold improvements) as a result of the abandonment of the leased facilities.

During fiscal year 2004, the Company underwent two restructurings. The first occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004 when we initiated a restructuring of our French operation. We undertook this restructuring in order to size the operation to meet the expected business and economic environment for our products in France and to shift our sales strategy in France from one based primarily on direct sales to a strategy more focused on indirect sales channels. This restructuring consisted primarily of a workforce reduction and associated legal expenses, which resulted in a headcount reduction of five people and associated severance, benefit and related legal costs of \$586,000 during the first quarter of 2004.

In early October 2004, we implemented an additional restructuring. This company-wide restructuring was undertaken to align our cost structure with future revenue expectations. The costs associated with this restructuring totaled \$1.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and were primarily comprised of severance and related costs. We expect to incur an additional expenditure of approximately \$600,000 in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 related to this restructuring. These additional charges are primarily related to idle facility costs of our French facility. According to Financial Accounting Standards statement No. 146 (SFAS 146) Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities , in order to record the costs related to an idle facility, we must first cease use of the facility. We expect to cease use of our French facility in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005.

*Interest and Other Income, Net.* Interest and other income, net, are comprised primarily of interest income earned by us on our cash and short-term investments. Interest and other income, net, increased by 14% from \$720,000 in fiscal year 2003 to \$822,000 in fiscal year 2004, and decreased by 6% from \$769,000 in fiscal year 2002 to \$720,000 in fiscal year 2003. The increase in interest and other income, net, in fiscal year 2004 was primarily due to improved returns on our cash and investments totaling approximately \$650,000 and other gains totaling \$175,000 related to currency exchange transactions with our international subsidiaries. The decrease in interest and other income, net in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002 was primarily due to higher yields on cash and short-term investments in fiscal year 2002 and a decrease in interest rates in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002.

*Provision for Income Taxes.* The provision for income taxes of \$886,000, \$3.5 million and \$576,000 is based on pretax income of \$2.2 million, and pretax losses of \$1.0 million and \$24.9 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The provision for income taxes in fiscal year 2004 represents primarily federal, state and foreign taxes as adjusted for the impact of operating losses utilized, income tax credits and the reversal of reserves no longer required. The provision for income taxes in fiscal year 2003 represents primarily federal, state and foreign taxes as adjusted for the impact of operating losses not currently utilized, income tax credits, and the write off of deferred tax assets recognized in 2002. The provision for income tax credits, and the recognition of additional deferred tax assets. The decrease in the provision for income taxes in fiscal year 2003 was primarily due to a \$3.0 million increase in 2003 in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets that did not occur in 2004. The increase in the provision for income taxes in fiscal year 2003 was primarily due to a \$3.0 million increase in 2003 in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets that were initially recognized in 2002. We determined that such deferred tax assets were no longer more likely than not to be realized.

We have determined that, based on a number of factors, as of December 31, 2004, no deferred tax assets should be recognized. A valuation allowance has, therefore, been recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to zero.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

We have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for and amount of the valuation allowance. In the event we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of our net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase income or reduce loss and increase shareholder s equity in the period such determination was made. Likewise, should we determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would be charged to income in the period such determination was made. Due to the current economic environment, increased competition, a history of net losses, and our uncertainty in projecting future taxable income, we have determined that we can no longer rely on projections of future taxable income to support the realization of our deferred tax assets. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a \$1.1 million increase to the valuation allowance related to deferred tax benefit generated in the current year. We will continue to assess our ability to realize the tax benefits available to us based on actual and forecasted results.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (Jobs Act) was enacted. Among other provisions, the Jobs Act provides for a deduction for income from qualified domestic production activities phased in from 2005 to 2010, and a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned abroad. We do not plan to repatriate foreign earnings under the Jobs Act and have not yet determined the impact of the deduction for domestic production activities. Such deduction will first be available to the Company in 2005. At this time, we do not expect that the deduction will have a material impact on our provision for income taxes.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments increased \$1.8 million, or 4%, to \$47.3 million as of December 31, 2004 from \$45.4 million as of December 31, 2003. Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments increased \$572,000 or 1% to the December 31, 2003 balance noted above, from \$44.9 million as of December 31, 2002. Our source of cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments over the past three years have been primarily generated by our operations.

*Cash from Operating Activities.* Net cash provided by operations was \$4.9 million during fiscal year 2004, compared to \$4.3 million in fiscal year 2003, an increase of \$600,000. Net cash provided by operating activities increased this period primarily due to the fact that we generated net income in fiscal year 2004 while we experienced a net loss in 2003. Cash from operating activities was also generated as a result of adjustments for non-cash items of amortization and depreciation and an increase in deferred revenues resulting from improvements in our maintenance and support revenues. These increases in cash generating activities were offset by an increase in our accounts receivable balances. The higher accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2004 is reflected in the days sales outstanding (DSO) number, which increased from 68 days at December 31, 2003 to 83 days at December 31, 2004. This high DSO number was the result of several factors, including unusually high billings in the last month of the quarter as a percentage of total billings for the quarter.

*Cash From Investing Activities.* Net cash used by investing activities was \$3.1 million during fiscal year 2004, compared to \$6.4 million used in fiscal year 2003, an increase of approximately \$3.3 million. For fiscal year 2004, the change in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to the purchase of short-term investments. This as well in increase in the purchase of property and equipment, mostly related to the implementation of our new enterprise accounting system. Furthermore, during fiscal year 2003, we paid cash totaling \$3.2 million for the acquisition of Nimble Technology and acquisition expenses.

*Cash from Financing Activities.* Net cash used in financing activities was \$318,000 in fiscal year 2004 compared to net cash provided by financing activities of \$1.1 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease of \$1.4 million. This decrease was primarily the result of lower proceeds from the issuance of common stock in 2004, offset by a lower level of stock repurchases in 2004. For fiscal year 2004, net cash used in financing

activities were derived from \$2.7 million in cash used to repurchase shares of our common stock in the open

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

market, partially offset by proceeds derived from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase and stock option plans totaling approximately \$2.4 million. For the same period last year, net cash provided by financing activities were primarily due from proceeds derived from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase and stock option plans totaling \$4.1 million, partially offset by the repurchase of shares of our common stock totaling approximately \$3.0 million.

		Year ended December 31,			
	2004	. 2	2003	2	2002
		(In thousands, except share data)			
urchased	824,3	300 1,0	)40,817	2,0	68,300
purchased	\$ 2,6	589 \$	2,964	\$	4,161

We believe that our current cash balances and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditures requirements for at least the next twelve months. Thereafter, if cash generated from operations is insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may find it necessary to sell additional equity or obtain credit facilities. The sale of additional equity could result in additional dilution to our current stockholders. A portion of our cash may be used to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, including the acquisition of the minority interest in our 66.7% owned subsidiary in Japan, or complementary products or to obtain the right to use complementary technologies.

*Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments.* Our future contractual obligations include minimum lease payments under operating leases at December 31, 2004, and are as follows (in thousands):

		Future			
Fiscal Year	Future minimum lease payment	contractual sublease income	Net future minimum lease payments		
2005	\$ 6,845	\$ (1,266)	\$ 5,579		
2006	6,211	(212)	5,999		
2007	6,103		6,103		
2008	3,872		3,872		
2009	3,660		3,660		
Thereafter	4,845		4,845		
	\$ 31,536	\$ (1,478)	\$ 30,058		

Of the remaining net future minimum lease payments, \$12.0 million is included in restructuring liabilities on the Company s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004.

In connection with the office building leases in South San Francisco, California, we have provided the landlord with a letter of credit in the amount of \$3.9 million as a security deposit. We have provided a security interest in all of our assets as collateral for the letter of credit.

*Investment in Actuate Japan.* As of December 31, 2004, the Company owns 66.7% of the outstanding shares of Actuate Japan. The minority shareholders of Actuate Japan have the option to put their 33.3% equity interest (Minority Interest) in Actuate Japan and the Company has the option to call the Minority Interest for approximately \$1.3 million. The price increases each year by 2% over the then prevailing long-term prime rate. Actuate s policy is to record a loss, if any, at the time that the put or call is probable of being exercised. Should an indicator arise that the Minority Interest has declined in value below the exercise price of the put option, the Company would conclude that exercise is probable at that point in time and recognize a liability for the intrinsic value of the option. Actuate has not recorded any losses on the put/call option to date.

#### Index to Financial Statements

*Indemnifications.* In the normal course of business, we provide indemnifications of varying scope to customers against claims of intellectual property infringement made by third parties arising from the use of our products. Historically, costs related to these indemnification provisions have not been significant and we are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these indemnification provisions on our future results of operations.

#### **Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements**

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) enacted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123 revised 2004 (SFAS 123R), Share-Based Payment, which replaces Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R requires the measurement of all employee share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a fair-value-based method and the recording of such expense in our consolidated statements of operations. The accounting provisions of SFAS 123R are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005.

We are required to adopt SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will be an alternative to financial statement recognition. See Note 1 in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share amounts, for fiscal year 2002 through fiscal year 2004, as if we had used a fair-value-based method similar to the methods required under SFAS 123R to measure compensation expense for employee stock incentive awards. Although we have not yet determined whether the adoption of SFAS 123R will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123, we are evaluating the requirements under SFAS 123R and expect the adoption to have a significant adverse impact on our consolidated statements of operations and net income (loss) per share.

In December 2004, FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (FSP FAS 109-2) was issued, providing guidance under SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes for recording the potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, enacted on October 22, 2004. FSP FAS 109-2 allows time beyond the financial reporting period of enactment to evaluate the effects of the Jobs Act before applying the requirements of FSP FAS 109-2. Accordingly, we are evaluating the potential effects of the Jobs Act and have not adjusted our tax expense or deferred tax liabilities to reflect the requirements of FSP FAS 109-2.

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### RISK FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

Investors should carefully consider the following risk factors and warnings before making an investment decision. The risks described below are not the only ones facing Actuate. Additional risks that we do not yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, operating results or financial condition could be materially harmed. In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment. Investors should also refer to the other information set forth in this Report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and the notes thereto.

# OUR OPERATING RESULTS MAY BE VOLATILE AND DIFFICULT TO PREDICT. IF WE FAIL TO MEET OUR ESTIMATES OF QUARTERLY AND ANNUAL OPERATING RESULTS OR WE FAIL TO MEET THE EXPECTATIONS OF PUBLIC MARKET ANALYSTS AND INVESTORS, THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR STOCK MAY DECREASE SIGNIFICANTLY.

The susceptibility of our operating results to significant fluctuations makes any prediction, including our estimates, of future operating results unreliable. In addition, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily meaningful and you should not rely on them as indications of our future performance. Our operating results have in the past varied, and may in the future vary significantly due to factors such as the following:

Demand for our products;

The size and timing of significant orders for our products;

A slowdown or a decrease in spending on information technology by our current and/or prospective customers;

The marketing by our competitors of products that are directly competitive with our products;

The management, performance and expansion of our international operations;

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

Customers desire to consolidate their purchases of enterprise reporting and business intelligence software to one or a very small number of vendors from which a customer has already purchased software;

General domestic and international economic and political conditions, including war, terrorism, and the threat of war or terrorism;

Sales cycles and sales performance of our indirect channel partners;

Changes in the way we and our competitors price our products and services, including maintenance and transfer fees;

Continued successful relationships and the establishment of new relationships with OEMs;

Changes in our level of operating expenses and our ability to control costs;

The outcome or publicity surrounding any pending or threatened lawsuits;

Ability to make new products and product enhancements commercially available in a timely manner;

Budgeting cycles of our customers;

Failure to successfully manage acquisitions made by us;

Defects in our products and other product quality problems;

Failure to successfully meet hiring needs and unexpected personnel changes;

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

Changes in the market segments and types of customers at which we focus our sales and marketing efforts;

Lost revenue due to the availability of open-source products of Actuate and its competitors;

Changes in perpetual licensing models to term or subscription-based models with respect to which license revenue is not fully recognizable at the time of initial sale; and

Changes in service models with respect to which consulting services are performed on a fixed-fee, rather than variable fee, basis.

Because our software products are typically shipped shortly after orders are received, total revenues in any quarter are substantially dependent on orders booked and shipped throughout that quarter. Furthermore, several factors may require us, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, to defer recognition of license fee revenue for a significant period of time after entering into a license agreement, including:

Whether the license agreement includes both software products that are then currently available and software products or other enhancements that are still under development;

Whether the license agreement relates entirely or partly to software products that are currently not available;

Whether the license agreement requires the performance of services that may preclude revenue recognition until successful completion of such services;

Whether the license agreement includes acceptance criteria that may preclude revenue recognition prior to customer acceptance; and

Whether the license agreement includes undelivered elements (including limited terms or durations) that may preclude revenue recognition prior to customer acceptance.

In addition, we may in the future experience fluctuations in our gross and operating margins due to changes in the mix of our domestic and international revenues, changes in the mix of our direct sales and indirect sales and changes in the mix of license revenues and service revenues, as well as changes in the mix among the indirect channels through which our products are offered.

A significant portion of our total revenues in any given quarter is derived from existing customers. Our ability to achieve future revenue growth, if any, will be substantially dependent upon our ability to increase revenues from license fees and services from existing customers, to expand our customer base and to increase the average size of our orders. To the extent that such increases do not occur in a timely manner, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

Our expense levels and any plans for expansion, including plans to increase our sales and marketing and research and development efforts, are based in significant part on our expectations of future revenues and are relatively fixed in the short-term. If revenues fall below our expectations

#### Table of Contents

and we are unable to reduce our spending in response quickly, our business, operating results, and financial condition are likely to be harmed.

Based upon all of the factors described above, we have a limited ability to forecast the amount and mix of future revenues and expenses and it is likely that in some future quarter our operating results will be below our estimates or the expectations of public market analysts and investors. In the event that operating results are below our estimates or other expectations, the price of our common stock could decline.

# IF WE FAIL TO GROW REVENUE FROM INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS AND EXPAND OUR INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS OUR BUSINESS WOULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED.

Our total revenues derived from sales outside North America were 21%, 18% and 23% in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Our ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend in large part on our

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

success in increasing revenues from international sales. We intend to continue to invest significant resources to expand our sales and support operations outside North America and to enter additional international markets. In order to expand international sales, we must establish additional foreign operations, expand our international channel management and support organizations, hire additional personnel, recruit additional international resellers and increase the productivity of existing international resellers. If we are not successful in expanding international operations in a timely and cost-effective manner, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

# IF WE DO NOT SUCCESSFULLY EXPAND OUR DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS AND DEVELOP AND MAINTAIN RELATIONSHIPS WITH OEMS, OUR BUSINESS WOULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED.

To date, we have sold our products principally through our direct sales force, as well as through indirect sales channels, such as our OEMs, resellers and systems integrators. Our revenues from license fees resulting from sales through indirect channel partners were approximately 13%, 30% and 32% for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth in the future will depend in large part on the success of our sales force in further establishing and maintaining relationships with indirect channel partners. In particular, a significant element of our strategy is to embed our technology in products offered by OEMs for resale or as a hosted application to such OEMs customers and end-users. We also intend to establish and expand our relationships with resellers and systems integrators so that such resellers and systems integrators will increasingly recommend our products to their clients. Our future success will depend on the ability of our indirect channel partners are lengthy or variable or our OEMs experience difficulties embedding our technology into their products or we fail to train the sales and customer support personnel of such indirect channel partners in a timely or effective fashion, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

Although we are currently investing, and plan to continue to invest, significant resources to expand and develop relationships with OEMs, we have at times experienced and continue to experience difficulty in establishing and maintaining these relationships. If we are unable to successfully expand this distribution channel and secure license agreements with additional OEMs on commercially reasonable terms, including significant up-front payments of minimum license fees, and extend existing license agreements with existing OEMs on commercially reasonable terms, our operating results would be harmed. Any inability by us to maintain existing or establish new relationships with indirect channel partners, including systems integrators and resellers, or, if such efforts are successful, a failure of our revenues to increase correspondingly with expenses incurred in pursuing such relationships, would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

#### WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO COMPETE SUCCESSFULLY AGAINST CURRENT AND FUTURE COMPETITORS.

Our market is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving standards and product releases by our competitors that are marketed to compete directly with our products. Our competition comes in four principal forms:

competition from current or future business intelligence software vendors such as Business Objects, Cognos, Hyperion, Information Builders, and MicroStrategy, which offer enterprise reporting products;

competition from other large software vendors such as IBM, Microsoft, Oracle and SAP, to the extent they include reporting functionality with their applications or databases;

competition from other software vendors and software development tool vendors; and

competition from the IT departments of current or potential customers that may develop scalable Enterprise Reporting Applications internally, which may be cheaper and more customized than our products.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

Most of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. These competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sales of their products than we may. Also, most current and potential competitors have greater name recognition and the ability to leverage a significant installed customer base. These companies have released and can continue to release competing enterprise reporting software products or significantly increase the functionality of their existing reporting software products, either of which could result in a loss of market share for us. We expect additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the Enterprise Reporting Application market and new products and technologies are introduced. Increased competition could result in price reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins, longer sales cycles and loss of market share, any of which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing their ability to address the needs of our prospective customers. Also our current or future channel partners may have established in the past, or may in the future, establish cooperative relationships with our current or potential competitors, thereby limiting our ability to sell our products through particular distribution channels. It is possible that new competitors or alliances among current and new competitors may emerge and rapidly gain significant market share. Such competition could reduce our revenues from license fees and services from new or existing customers on terms favorable to us. If we are unable to compete successfully against current and future competitors our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

# INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CLAIMS AGAINST US CAN BE COSTLY AND COULD RESULT IN THE LOSS OF SIGNIFICANT RIGHTS.

Third parties may claim that our current or future products infringe their intellectual property rights. We have been subject to infringement claims in the past and we expect companies in the Business Intelligence software market will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of products and/or competitors in our industry segment grows and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps. Any such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming to defend, result in costly litigation and expenses, divert management s attention and resources, cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. A successful claim of product infringement against us and our failure or inability to license the infringed or similar technology could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

# IF THE MARKET FOR ENTERPRISE REPORTING APPLICATION SOFTWARE DOES NOT GROW AS WE EXPECT, OUR BUSINESS WOULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED.

The market for Enterprise Reporting Application software products is still emerging and we cannot be certain that it will continue to grow or that, even if the market does grow, businesses will purchase our products. If the market for Enterprise Reporting Application software products fails to grow or grows more slowly than we expect, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. To date, all of our revenues have been derived from licenses for our enterprise reporting software and related products and services, and we expect this to continue for the foreseeable future. We have spent, and intend to continue to spend, considerable resources educating potential customers and indirect channel partners about Enterprise Reporting Applications and our products. However, if such expenditures do not enable our products to achieve any significant degree of market acceptance, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

# BECAUSE THE SALES CYCLES OF OUR PRODUCTS ARE LENGTHY AND VARIABLE, OUR QUARTERLY RESULTS MAY FLUCTUATE.

#### Table of Contents

The purchase of our products by our end-user customers for deployment within the customer s organization typically involves a significant commitment of capital and other resources, and is therefore subject to delays that

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

are beyond our control. These delays can arise from a customer s internal procedures to approve large capital expenditures, budgetary constraints, the testing and acceptance of new technologies that affect key operations and general economic and political events. The sales cycle for initial orders and larger follow-on orders for our products can be lengthy and variable. Additionally, sales cycles for sales of our products to OEMs tend to be longer, ranging from 6 to 24 months or more and may involve convincing the vendor s entire organization that our products are the appropriate software for the vendor s application. This time period does not include the sales and implementation cycles of such vendor s own products, which can be longer than our sales and implementation cycles. Certain of our customers have in the past, or may in the future, experience difficulty completing the initial implementation of our products. Any difficulties or delays in the initial implementation by our end-user customers or our indirect channel partners could cause such customers to reject our software or lead to the delay or non-receipt of future orders for the large-scale deployment of our products.

# IF WE ARE UNABLE TO FAVORABLY ASSESS THE EFFECTIVENESS OF OUR INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING, OUR STOCK PRICE COULD BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Section 404), our management is required to report on, and our independent auditors are required to attest to, the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting on an ongoing basis. Our assessment, testing and evaluation of the design and operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting has not yet been completed. There can be no assurance that as a result of completing our evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, we will not identify any additional material weaknesses or that such evaluation will be completed by the end of the 45 day extension period accorded to us under the SEC s exemption order in SEC Release No. 50754. To date, as a result of this testing, we identified a material weakness, which has been remediated subsequent to December 31, 2004, as described in Item 9A below. We will include our management s report and our auditor s report on internal control over financial reporting in an amendment to this Form 10-K within such 45 day period. We know that, upon completion of our evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. We cannot predict the outcome of our testing in future periods. If in future periods we conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, we may be required to change our internal control over financial reporting to remediate deficiencies, and investors may lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, causing our stock price to decline.

# SECTION 404 AND OTHER RECENTLY ENACTED REGULATORY CHANGES HAVE CAUSED US TO INCUR INCREASED COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES AND MAY MAKE IT MORE DIFFICULT FOR US TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN QUALIFIED OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and recently enacted rules of the SEC and Nasdaq have caused us to incur significant increased costs as we implement and respond to new requirements. In particular, the rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess our internal controls over financial reporting under Section 404 are new and complex, and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. This ongoing process of reviewing, documenting and testing our internal controls over financial reporting has resulted in, and will likely continue to result in, a significant strain on our management, information systems and resources. Furthermore, achieving and maintaining compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley and other new rules and regulations has required us to hire additional personnel and has and will continue to require us to use additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services.

Any acquisitions made by us will also put a significant strain on our management, information systems and resources. In addition, any expansion of our international operations will lead to increased financial and administrative demands associated with managing our international operations and managing an increasing number of relationships with foreign partners and customers and expanded treasury functions to manage foreign currency risks, all of which will require implementation of any changes necessary to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

Any failure to satisfy the new rules could make it more difficult for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, or as executive officers.

#### WE MAY MAKE FUTURE ACQUISITIONS, WHICH INVOLVE NUMEROUS RISKS.

Our business is highly competitive, and as such, our growth is dependent upon market growth and our ability to enhance our existing products, introduce new products on a timely basis and expand our distribution channels and professional services organization. One of the ways we have addressed and will continue to address these issues are through acquisitions of other companies. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including the following:

The possibility that we will pay more than the value we derive from the acquisition;

Difficulties in integration of the operations, technologies, and products of the acquired companies;

The assumption of certain known and unknown liabilities of the acquired companies;

Difficulties in retaining key relationships with customers, partners and suppliers of the acquired company;

The risk of diverting management s attention from normal daily operations of the business;

Negative impact to our financial condition and results of operations and the potential write down of impaired goodwill and intangible assets resulting from combining the acquired company s financial condition and results of operations with our financial statements;

Risks of entering markets in which we have no or limited direct prior experience; and

The potential loss of key employees of the acquired company.

Mergers and acquisitions of high-technology companies are inherently risky, and we cannot be certain that any acquisition will be successful and will not materially harm our business, operating results or financial condition.

#### IF WE DO NOT RESPOND TO RAPID TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES, OUR PRODUCTS COULD BECOME OBSOLETE.

The market for our products is characterized by rapid technological changes, frequent new product introductions and enhancements, changing customer demands, and evolving industry standards. Any of these factors can render existing products obsolete and unmarketable. We believe that our future success will depend in large part on our ability to support current and future releases of popular operating systems and computer programming languages, databases and software applications, to timely develop new products that achieve market acceptance and to meet an expanding range of customer requirements. If the announcement or introduction of new products by us or our competitors or any change in industry standards causes customers to defer or cancel purchases of existing products, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. As a result of the complexities inherent in Enterprise Reporting Applications, major new products and product enhancements can require long development and testing periods. In addition, customers may delay their purchasing decisions in anticipation of the general availability of new or enhanced versions of our products. As a result, significant delays in the general availability of such new releases or significant problems in the installation or implementation of such new releases could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If we fail to successfully develop, on a timely and cost effective basis, product enhancements or new products that respond to technological change, evolving industry standards or customer requirements or such new products and product enhancements fail to achieve market acceptance, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

#### IF WE DO NOT RELEASE NEW PRODUCTS AND ENHANCEMENTS TO EXISTING PRODUCTS IN A TIMELY MANNER OR IF SUCH NEW PRODUCTS AND ENHANCEMENTS INCLUDING OUR OPEN SOURCE PROJECT FAIL TO ACHIEVE MARKET ACCEPTANCE, OUR BUSINESS COULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED.

We believe that our future success will depend in large part on the success of new products and enhancements to our products that we make generally available. Prior to the release of any new products or enhancements, the products must undergo a long development and testing period. To date, the development and testing of new products and enhancements have taken longer than expected. In the event the development and testing of new products and enhancements is a timely manner, our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. In addition, if such new products and enhancements do not achieve market acceptance our business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

In the third quarter of 2004 we announced a new open source initiative. We are developing a Business Intelligence Reporting Tools (BIRT) open source code project as part of the Eclipse open source code foundation. The first version of BIRT is expected to be available in 2005. We hope that BIRT will be widely adopted by Java developers and will result in such developers recommending to their companies that they license our commercially available products. If we fail to release BIRT in a timely manner, if BIRT does not achieve market acceptance and result in promoting sales of commercially available products our business, operating results and financial condition may be harmed.

#### OUR INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT RISKS.

A substantial portion of Actuate s revenues is derived from international sales. International operations are subject to a number of risks, any of which could harm our business, operating results and financial conditions. These risks include the following:

Economic and political instability, including war and terrorism or the threat of war and terrorism;

Difficulty in managing an organization spread across many countries;

Multiple and conflicting tax laws and regulations;

Costs of localizing products for foreign countries;

Difficulty in hiring employees and high costs associated with terminating employees in foreign countries;

Trade laws and business practices favoring local competition;

Dependence on local vendors;

Compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing government laws and regulations;

Weaker intellectual property protection in foreign countries and potential loss of proprietary information due to piracy or misappropriation;

Longer sales cycles;

Import and export restrictions and tariffs;

Difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

The significant presence of some of our competitors in certain international markets;

Greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collection; and

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

We believe that, over time, an increasing portion of our revenues and costs will be denominated in foreign currencies. To the extent such denomination in foreign currencies does occur, gains and losses on the conversion to U.S. dollars of accounts receivable, accounts payable and other monetary assets and liabilities arising from international operations may contribute to fluctuations in our results of operations. Although we may in the future decide to undertake foreign exchange hedging transactions to cover a portion of our foreign currency transaction exposure, we currently do not attempt to cover any foreign currency exposure. If we are not successful in any future foreign exchange hedging transactions that we engage in, our business, operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

# OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CERTAIN KEY PERSONNEL ARE CRITICAL TO OUR BUSINESS AND WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO RECRUIT AND RETAIN THE PERSONNEL WE NEED.

Our future success depends upon the continued service of our executive officers and other key engineering, sales, marketing and customer support personnel. None of our officers or key employees is bound by an employment agreement for any specific term. If we lose the service of one or more of our key employees, or if one or more of our executive officers or key employees decide to join a competitor or otherwise compete directly or indirectly with us, this could have a significant adverse effect on our business.

In addition, because experienced personnel in our industry are in high demand and competition for their talents is intense, we have relied on our ability to grant stock options as one mechanism for recruiting and retaining this highly skilled talent. Recent accounting regulations, which will take effect in the third quarter, requiring the expensing of stock options, will impair our future ability to provide these incentives without incurring significant compensation costs. There can be no assurance that we will continue to successfully attract and retain key personnel.

# CHANGES IN, OR INTERPRETATIONS OF, ACCOUNTING RULES AND REGULATIONS COULD RESULT IN UNFAVORABLE ACCOUNTING CHARGES.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These principles are subject to interpretation by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting policies. A change in these policies, or the interpretation of existing accounting principles, can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even retroactively affect previously reported transactions. Our accounting policies that recently have been or may be affected by changes in the accounting rules are as follows:

software revenue recognition;

accounting for income taxes;

accounting for business combinations and related goodwill; and

accounting for stock-based compensation provided to employees.

# OUR EARNINGS MAY BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED DUE TO RECENT CHANGES IN THE ACCOUNTING RULES GOVERNING THE RECOGNITION OF STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE.

We currently account for the issuance of stock options using the intrinsic value method under APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, under which we generally do not record compensation expense related to employee stock options in our financial statements. However, in accordance with SFAS 123 and SFAS 148, we provide additional disclosures of our operating results in the notes to our financial statements as if we had applied the fair value method of accounting. Had we accounted for our stock-based compensation expense for employees in our results of operations under the fair value method of accounting prescribed by

#### Index to Financial Statements

SFAS 123, the compensation charges would have been significantly higher than the intrinsic value method used by us resulting in a reduction of net income or increase in net loss of approximately, \$8.6 million, \$21.3 million and \$47.3 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), which replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123(R) requires compensation costs relating to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in financial statements. This statement is effective as of the beginning of the first reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Accordingly, we will be required to adopt SFAS 123(R) starting in our third fiscal quarter of 2005. We expect the adoption of SFAS 123(R) to have a significant adverse impact on our net income or loss and our net income or loss per share by decreasing our income or increasing our losses by the additional amount of such stock option charges. We are currently in the process of evaluating the extent of such impact and cannot quantify the amount of such significant adverse impact at this time.

#### WE MAY BE UNABLE TO SUSTAIN OR INCREASE OUR PROFITABILITY.

While we were marginally profitable in our most recent fiscal year, we incurred net losses during fiscal year 2003 and 2002. Our ability to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis will be affected by changes in our business. We expect our operating expenses to increase as our business grows, and we anticipate that we will make investments in our business. Therefore, our results of operations will be harmed if our revenues do not increase at a rate equal to or greater than increases in our expenses or are insufficient for us to sustain profitability.

# IF WE OVERESTIMATE REVENUES, WE MAY BE UNABLE TO REDUCE OUR EXPENSES TO AVOID OR MINIMIZE A NEGATIVE IMPACT ON OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast and are likely to fluctuate significantly from period to period. We base our operating expense budgets on expected revenue trends. Our estimates of sales trends may not correlate with actual revenues in a particular quarter or over a longer period of time. Variations in the rate and timing of conversion of our sales prospects into actual licensing revenues could cause us to plan or budget inaccurately and those variations could adversely affect our financial results. In particular, delays, reductions in amount or cancellation of customers purchases would adversely affect the overall level and timing of our revenues and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed. In addition, many of our expenses, such as office and equipment leases and certain personnel costs, are relatively fixed. We may be unable to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected revenue shortfall. Accordingly, any shortfall in revenue may cause significant variation in operating results in any period.

#### IF OUR PRODUCT CONTAINS MATERIAL DEFECTS, OUR REVENUES MAY DECLINE.

Software products as complex as those offered by us often contain errors or defects, particularly when first introduced, when new versions or enhancements are released and when configured to individual customer computing systems. We currently have known errors and defects in our products. Despite testing conducted by us, if additional defects and errors are found in current versions, new versions or enhancements of our products after commencement of commercial shipment, this could result in the loss of revenues or a delay in market acceptance. The occurrence of any of these events could seriously harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

#### WE MAY BE SUBJECT TO PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS.

Although license agreements with our customers typically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product liability claims, it is possible that such limitation of liability provisions may not be effective as a result of existing or future laws or unfavorable judicial decisions. The sale and support of our products may entail the risk of such claims, which are likely to be substantial in light of the use of our products in business-critical

#### Index to Financial Statements

applications. A product liability claim brought against us could seriously harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

#### THE PROTECTION OF OUR PROPRIETARY RIGHTS MAY BE INADEQUATE.

We have a small number of issued and pending U.S. patents expiring at varying times ranging from 2015 to 2019. We rely primarily on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology. For example, we license our software pursuant to shrink-wrap or signed license agreements that impose certain restrictions on licensees ability to utilize the software. In addition, we seek to avoid disclosure of our intellectual property, including by requiring those persons with access to our proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements with us and by restricting access to our source code. We take precautions to protect our software, documentation, and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws, which afford only limited protection.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult, and while we are unable to determine the extent to which piracy of our software products exists, software piracy can be expected to be a persistent problem. In addition, the laws of many countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. If our means of protecting our proprietary rights is not adequate or our competitors independently develop similar technology, our business could be seriously harmed.

# OUR COMMON STOCK PRICE MAY BE VOLATILE, WHICH COULD RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL LOSSES FOR STOCKHOLDERS.

The market price of shares of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile and may be significantly affected by factors such as the following:

Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

Changes in the economic and political conditions in the United States and abroad;

Terrorist attacks, war or the threat of terrorist attacks and war;

The announcement of mergers or acquisitions by us or our competitors;

Developments in ongoing or threatened litigation;

Announcements of technological innovations;

Failure to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

New products or new contracts announced by us or our competitors;

Developments with respect to copyrights or proprietary rights;

Price and volume fluctuations in the stock market;

Changes in corporate purchasing of Enterprise Reporting Application software;

Adoption of new accounting standards affecting the software industry (including stock option-expensing roles); and

Changes in financial estimates by securities analysts.

In addition, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against such company. If we are involved in such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management s attention and resources and could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

#### CHANGES IN TAX RATES OR NEGATIVE TAX RULINGS COULD ADVERSELY IMPACT OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS

We are taxable principally in the United States and certain jurisdictions in Europe and Asia/Pacific. All of these jurisdictions have in the past and may in the future make changes to their corporate income tax rates and other income tax laws, which could increase our future income tax provision. While we believe that all material income tax liabilities are reflected properly in our balance sheet, we have no assurance that we will prevail in all cases in the event the taxing authorities disagree with our interpretations of the tax law. Future levels of research and development spending will impact our entitlement to related tax credits, which generally lower our effective income tax rates. Future effective income tax rates could be adversely affected if earnings are lower than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have statutory tax rates lower than in the United States.

# CERTAIN OF OUR CHARTER PROVISIONS AND DELAWARE LAW, MAY PREVENT OR DETER A CHANGE IN CONTROL OF ACTUATE.

Actuate s Certificate of Incorporation, as amended and restated (the Certificate of Incorporation ), and Bylaws, as amended and restated (Bylaws ), contain certain provisions that may have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of Actuate or unsolicited acquisition proposals that a stockholder might consider favorable, including provisions authorizing the issuance of blank check preferred stock and eliminating the ability of stockholders to act by written consent. In addition, certain provisions of Delaware law and our stock option plans may also have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control or unsolicited acquisition proposals. The anti-takeover effect of these provisions may also have an adverse effect on the public trading price of our common stock.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

#### ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, we derived 21%, 18% and 23%, respectively, of our total revenues from sales outside of North America. In 2004, the majority of the revenues generated outside of North America were denominated in foreign currencies. Our exposure to market risk on these receivables with respect to fluctuations in the relative value of currencies is limited. However, increases in the value of the U.S. dollar could increase the price of our products so that they become relatively more expensive to customers in the local currency of a particular country and may result in a reduction in sales and profitability in that country. We are also exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations as the financial results of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in consolidation. As exchange rates vary, these results, when translated, may vary from expectations and adversely impact overall expected profitability. The effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations in fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002 was not material. Actuate does not engage in hedging transactions.

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we invest in highly liquid and high quality debt securities. To minimize the exposure due to adverse shifts in the general level of U.S. interest rates we invest in short-term securities that have an average maturity of one year or less. Due to the short-term nature of our investments, we believe that there is no material risk exposure. Therefore, no quantitative tabular disclosures are required.

#### ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8 are listed in Item 14(a)(1) and begin at page F-1 of this Report.

# ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES.

On June 9, 2004, the Audit Committee of the Company decided to dismiss Ernst & Young LLP as the independent accountants of Actuate Corporation. On June 13, 2004, Ernst & Young LLP was notified of such dismissal. The reports of Ernst & Young LLP on the financial statements of the Company for the past two fiscal years did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. The decision to change accountants was approved by the Audit Committee of Actuate Corporation.

In connection with its audits for the two most recent fiscal years and through June 13, 2004, there were no disagreements with Ernst & Young LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements if not resolved to the satisfaction of Ernst & Young LLP would have caused them to make reference thereto in their reports on the financial statements for such years. Other than as described below, during the two most recent fiscal years and through June 13, 2004, there have been no reportable events (as defined in Regulation S-K, Item 304(a)(1)(v)).

On May 29, 2003 Ernst & Young LLP provided the Audit Committee of Actuate Corporation with a report that identified material weaknesses with certain internal controls related to the detection of side letters and the process of investigating customer assertions regarding terms not specified in the contractual agreements with the Company. Ernst & Young LLP discussed these material weaknesses with the Audit Committee and management of Actuate Corporation. Actuate Corporation implemented a remedial action plan, which included implementing certain new processes and procedures to address the identified material weaknesses. Such action plan was based in large part on recommendations made by

Ernst & Young LLP.

On June 9, 2004, the Audit Committee of the Company appointed KPMG LLP as its new independent accountants.

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

#### ITEM 9A. EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

#### **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As described below under Management s Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) in respect of certain nonrecurring transactions originating at the foreign subsidiary level. During the first quarter of 2005, we implemented additional controls and procedures in order to remediate this deficiency and will continue to evaluate our remediation effort. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as a result of this material weakness as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

#### Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

A material weakness (within the meaning of PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2) is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.

Our management is in the process of assessing the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, and this assessment, while not yet complete, identified a material weakness in the Company s internal control over financial reporting related to the review and approval of journal entries for material nonrecurring charges originating at the foreign subsidiary level. The identified material weakness was related to the absence of a control requiring review and approval by the relevant senior accounting personnel at the parent company level of journal entries for material nonrecurring transactions originating at the foreign subsidiary level. The absence of this control resulted in a failure in the year-end financial statement close process to ensure original assumptions made in determining the Company s fourth quarter restructuring charge had not changed as of year end. As a result, a material adjustment, which was identified by the Company s independent auditors, was required to correct the restructuring charge and the related accrued liability account.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any controls system. A controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that its objectives are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and any instances of fraud, within a company will be detected. The Company intends to continue to improve and refine its internal controls. This process is ongoing, and the Company seeks to foster an exemplary internal control system.

The Company expects to conclude its testing and evaluation of internal controls over financial reporting and management s assessment of such controls prior to filing its amended annual report on Form 10-K/A within the 45-day period provided by the exemptive order issued by the SEC on November 30, 2004. There can be no assurance that no further material weaknesses will be identified during this process. The Form 10-K/A will include management s report and our auditor s report on the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

Management s report on internal control over financial reporting will conclude that controls were not effective as of December 31, 2004. Upon KPMG s completion of its evaluation and testing of internal control over financial reporting, management expects that KPMG will issue an adverse opinion with respect to the effectiveness of Actuate s internal control over financial reporting.

38

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### **Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

In response to the material weakness noted above the Company has commenced the following corrective action to remediate the material weakness:

The Company is currently implementing a procedure that will require senior accounting managers to review journal entries relating to material nonrecurring charges originating at the foreign subsidiary level.

In addition, as part of the assessment of our internal controls that we will need to undergo during our 2005 fiscal year in connection with the process required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we intend to continue to review, evaluate and strengthen our controls and processes. The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is performing oversight of our implementation of enhancements and improvements to our internal controls, and our management is reporting to our Audit Committee on a regular basis regarding these matters. As a result of these activities, we intend to continue to refine and improve our internal controls on an ongoing basis.

The Company began using a new enterprise accounting system in the third quarter of fiscal 2004. The implementation of the new accounting system required us to modify and add numerous internal controls and processes. There have been no other changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have materially affected, or are likely to materially effect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

#### ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

39

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### PART III

#### ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item regarding our directors and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is incorporated herein by reference from the sections entitled Election of Directors and Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, respectively, contained in our proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 25, 2005 (the Proxy Statement ). The information required by this Item with respect to our executive officers is contained in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report under the heading Actuate Executive Officers.

#### **Adoption of Code of Ethics**

Actuate has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the Code ) applicable to all of its Board members, employees and executive officers, including its Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer), Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) and Controller. We have made the Code available under the investors/corporate governance section of our website at <u>www.actuate.com</u>.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding (i) any amendments to the Code, or (ii) any waivers under the Code relating to our Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, by posting such information under the investors/corporate governance section of our website at <u>www.actuate.com</u>.

#### ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item regarding executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled Executive Compensation and Related Information of the Proxy Statement.

# ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management of the Proxy Statement.

#### ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled Certain Relationships and Related Transactions of the Proxy Statement.

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item regarding principal accountant fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled Principal Accountant Fees and Services of the Proxy Statement.

40

## Index to Financial Statements

## PART IV

#### ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

#### (a)(1) Financial Statements

See Index on Page F-1.

## (a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

Other schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is readily available in the financial statements or notes thereto.

#### (a)(3) Exhibits

#### Exhibit

No.	Description
3.1(3)	Form of Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
3.2(1)	Form of Bylaws of the Registrant.
4.1(1)	Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.
4.2(1)	Specimen Common Stock Certificate.
10.1(1)	Form of Indemnification Agreement.
10.2(1)+	1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended.
10.3(1)+	1998 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.4(1)+	1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
10.5(1)+	1998 Non-Employee Directors Option Plan.
10.6(4)+	2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan.
10.7(1)+	Offer Letter between the Company and Daniel A. Gaudreau dated May 7, 1997.
10.8(2)	Office Building Lease between the Actuate and HMS Gateway Office, L.P. dated August 18, 1999.

## Table of Contents

- 10.9(2) First Amendment to Office Building Lease between the Actuate and HMS Gateway Office, L.P. dated September 30, 1999.
- 10.10(4) Office Building Lease between the Actuate and HMS Gateway Office, L.P. dated December 21, 2000.
- 16.1(5) Letter Regarding Change in Certifying Accountant
- 21.1 Subsidiaries of Actuate Corporation.
- 23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms.
- 24.1 Power of Attorney. (See the signature page to this Form 10-K).
- 31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
- 31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
- 32.1 Section 1350 Certifications

(1) Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-55741).

- (2) Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 1999.
- (3) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 1999.
- (4) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2000.
- $(5) \quad \mbox{Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K dated June 16, 2004.}$
- + Indicates management or compensatory plan or arrangement.

41

## Index to Financial Statements

#### (b) Exhibits

See (a)(3) above.

#### (c) Financial Statement Schedule

See (a)(2) above.

42

#### Index to Financial Statements

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have duly caused this report to be signed on our behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

(Registrant)

By: /s/ DANIEL A. GAUDREAU

Daniel A. Gaudreau

Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 16, 2005

#### POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Peter I. Cittadini and Daniel A. Gaudreau, and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Nicolas C. Nierenberg	Chairman of the Board and Chief Architect	March 16, 2005
Nicolas C. Nierenberg	Director, President and Chief Executive Officer	March 16, 2005
Peter I. Cittadini	<ul> <li>(Principal Executive Officer)</li> </ul>	Water 10, 2005

/s/ DANIEL A. GAUDREAU Daniel A. Gaudreau	Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	March 16, 2005
/s/ George B. Beitzel	Director	March 16, 2005
George B. Beitzel /s/ Kenneth E. Marshall	Director	March 16, 2005
Kenneth E. Marshall /s/ Arthur C. Patterson	Director	March 16, 2005
Arthur C. Patterson /s/ Steven D. Whiteman	Director	March 16, 2005

Steven D. Whiteman

43

## Index to Financial Statements

## ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms	F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)	F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-8

#### Index to Financial Statements

## REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Actuate Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Actuate Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)2. These consolidated financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the management of Actuate Corporation. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Actuate Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California

March 16, 2005

#### **Index to Financial Statements**

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders

Actuate Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Actuate Corporation as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Actuate Corporation at December 31, 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst and Young LLP

San Francisco, California

January 26, 2004

## Index to Financial Statements

## ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

#### (in thousands, except share and per share data)

	Decen	ıber 31,
	2004	2003
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 7,341	\$ 5,850
Short-term investments	39,932	39,589
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of \$1,489, and \$2,277 at December 31, 2004 and 2003	24,776	20,208
Other current assets	2,498	2,599
Total current assets	74,547	68,246
Property and equipment, net	6,158	5,097
Goodwill	20,766	20,766
Other purchased intangibles, net	3,117	5,759
Other assets	867	1,538
	\$ 105,455	\$ 101,406
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 2,414	\$ 2,758
Current portion of restructuring liabilities	3,669	2,198
Accrued compensation	5,244	4,402
Other accrued liabilities	4,996	4,383
Income taxes payable	539	1,241
Deferred revenue	28,763	25,790
Total current liabilities	45,625	40,772
Long-term liabilities:		
Deferred rent	320	389
Restructuring liabilities, net of current portion	12,565	15,064
	10.005	15 452
Total long-term liabilities	12,885	15,453
Commitments and contingencies		
Stockholders equity:		
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value, issuable in series: 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding		
Common stock, \$0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 61,871,783 and 61,207,694 shares issued and		
outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively	62	61
Additional paid-in capital	93,213	92,652

Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(389)	(293)
Accumulated deficit	(45,941)	(47,239)
Total stockholders equity	46,945	45,181
	\$ 105,455	\$ 101,406

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

## Index to Financial Statements

## ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

#### (in thousands, except per share data)

	2004	2003	2002
Revenues:			
License fees	\$ 42,703	\$ 47,598	\$ 58,280
Services	61,954	56,857	50,884
Total revenues	104,657	104,455	109,164
Costs and expenses:			
Cost of license fees	3,417	3,140	2,824
Cost of services	24,763	23,648	23,936
Sales and marketing	41,296	45,769	46,550
Research and development	19,847	18,732	18,576
General and administrative	10,856	12,220	12,724
Amortization of other intangibles	1,110	2,021	3,082
Purchased in-process research and development		600	
Restructuring charges	2,006		27,136
Total costs and expenses	103,295	106,130	134,828
Income (loss) from operations	1,362	(1,675)	(25,664)
Interest and other income, net	822	720	769
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes	2,184	(955)	(24,895)
Provision for income taxes	886	3,542	576
Net income (loss)	\$ 1,298	\$ (4,497)	\$ (25,471)
	+ -,=> *	+ (.,.,.)	+ (,)
Basic net income (loss) per share	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)
basic net income (1055) per snare	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share calculation	61,577	60,766	60,141
shares used in computing basic net meone (1055) per share carenation	01,577	00,700	00,141
Diluted net income (loss) per share	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)
	φ 0.02	¢ (0.07)	$\varphi$ (0.72)
Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share calculation	65,202	60,766	60,141
shares used in comparing dirace net meane (1000) per share euroritation			

Year ended December 31,

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

## Index to Financial Statements

## ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND

## **COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)**

#### (in thousands, except share data)

	Common Stock								
	Shares	Amount	Additional Paid-in Capital	Deferr Stock Compens	ĸ	other Comprehensive Income (Loss)		cumulated Deficit	Total Stockholders Equity
Balance at January 1, 2002	59,985,945	\$ 60	\$ 88,701	\$ (	(199)	\$ (214)	\$	(17,271)	\$ 71,077
Comprehensive income								(05 471)	(25, 471)
Net loss Net unrealized gains on available-for- sale								(25,471)	(25,471)
securities						16			16
Currency translation						(2)			(2)
Total comprehensive loss									(25,457)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of									
stock options, net of repurchases	779,321	1	1,530						1,531
Issuance of common stock under Employee									
Stock Purchase Plan	1,008,276	1	3,009		1.50				3,010
Amortization of deferred compensation, net	(2.0(8.200))	( <b>2</b> )	(4.150)		158				158
Stock repurchase Tax benefits from employee stock options	(2,068,300)	(2)	(4,159)						(4,161)
Tax benefits from employee stock options			2,265				_		2,265
Balance at December 31, 2002	59,705,242	60	91,346		(41)	(200)		(42,742)	48,423
Comprehensive income									
Net loss								(4,497)	(4,497)
Net unrealized gains on available-for- sale securities						8			8
Currency translation						(101)			(101)
Total comprehensive loss									(4,590)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of									
stock options	1,050,527		1,528						1,528
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan	1,492,742	2	2,578						2,580
Amortization of deferred compensation,									
Net					41				41
Stock repurchase	(1,040,817)	(1)	(2,963)						(2,964)
Tax benefits from employee stock options			163						163
Balance at December 31, 2003	61,207,694	61	92,652			(293)		(47,239)	45,181
Comprehensive income									
Net income								1,298	1,298

**Table of Contents** 

Net unrealized losses on available-for- sale securities Currency translation						(68) (28)				(68) (28)
Total comprehensive income										1,202
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of										
stock options	1,362,476	1	2,065							2,066
Issuance of common stock under Employee										
Stock Purchase Plan	125,913		306							306
Stock repurchase	(824,300)		(2,690)							(2,690)
Tax benefits from employee stock options			880							880
Balance at December 31, 2004	61,871,783	\$ 62	\$ 93,213	\$	\$	(389)	\$	(45,941)	\$	46,945
					_		_		_	

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

## Index to Financial Statements

## ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

#### (in thousands)

	Year ended December 31,			
	2004	2003	2002	
Operating activities				
Net income (loss)	\$ 1,298	\$ (4,497)	\$ (25,471)	
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:				
Amortization of deferred compensation	96	41	158	
Amortization of other purchased intangibles	2,642	3,186	3,985	
Depreciation	2,293	3,020	4,348	
Purchased in-process research and development		600		
Restructuring charges			3,382	
Tax benefits from exercise of stock options	880	163	2,265	
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition:				
Accounts receivable	(4,568)	3,776	4,891	
Other current assets	5	1,308	592	
Deferred tax assets		2,140	(2,140)	
Accounts payable	(344)	(1,319)	(550)	
Accrued compensation	842	(1,197)	(1,029)	
Other accrued liabilities	613	(2,154)	(2,025)	
Income taxes payable	(702)	291	1,175	
Deferred rent liabilities	(69)	17	(179)	
Deferred revenue	2,973	2,517	(705)	
Deferred tax liabilities	,		(1,461)	
Restructuring liabilities	(1.028)	(3,601)	20,863	
Net cash generated by operating activities	4,931	4,291	8,099	
Investing activities				
Purchase of property and equipment	(3,354)	(1,658)	(1,547)	
Proceeds from maturity of short-term investments	75,038	99.516	44.085	
Purchase of short-term investments	(75,450)	(101,098)	(76,944)	
Acquisition of Nimble Technology, net of cash assumed	(75,450)	(3,016)	(70,944)	
Final purchase price payment in connection with Open Software Technology acquisition		(3,010)	(2,033)	
Net change in other assets	671	(97)	(2,033)	
Net change in other assets	0/1	(97)	147	
Net cash used in investing activities	(3,095)	(6,353)	(36,292)	
Financing activities				
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	2,372	4,108	4,541	
Stock repurchases	(2,690)	(2,964)	(4,161)	

Net cash generated by (used in) financing activities	(318)	1,144	380
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	1,518	(918)	(27,813)
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents	(27)	(77)	(2)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year	5,850	6,845	34,660
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	\$ 7,341	\$ 5,850	\$ 6,845
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information			
Income taxes paid	\$ 320	\$ 45	\$ 321

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Actuate Corporation (We, Actuate or the Company) provides an Enterprise Reporting Application Platform, a unified software platform that enables large organizations and packaged application software vendors to develop and deploy self-service, customer and employee-facing Enterprise Reporting Applications. The Company s Actuate 8 product line provides a platform upon which Global 9000 organizations (companies with annual revenues greater than \$1 billion) and packaged application software vendors develop and deploy mission-critical Enterprise Reporting Applications. Such Applications retrieve business information from corporate databases and deliver it as interactive Web pages, Excel spreadsheets, and analytic cubes to customers, partners and employees around the globe. Actuate s products and services are used by its customers to develop and deploy Enterprise Reporting Applications across a range of business functions including financial management, sales management, account management, and customer self-service.

Actuate was incorporated in November 1993 in the State of California and reincorporated in the State of Delaware in July 1998. Actuate s principal executive offices are located at 701 Gateway Boulevard, South San Francisco, California. Actuate s telephone number is 650-837-2000. Actuate maintains a Web site at <u>www.actuate.com</u>.

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Actuate and its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. Actuate has offices throughout North America, Europe and Asia including offices in Switzerland, United Kingdom, France, Germany, Singapore, Japan and China. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

As of December 31, 2004, Actuate has approximately 66.7% of the outstanding voting stock of Actuate Japan Company Ltd. ( Actuate Japan ). The Company has consolidated the results of Actuate Japan from the date that it became the majority shareholder, which occurred in fiscal year 2000. Accumulated losses applicable to the minority shareholders exceed their equity capital in Actuate Japan and, as a result, there is no minority interest presented on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. This excess loss applicable to the minority shareholders has been charged to Actuate, as the minority shareholders are not obligated to contribute their share of losses exceeding their equity capital.

On July 25, 2003, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Nimble Technology, Inc. (Nimble), a privately held Enterprise Information Integration (EII) software company. The Consolidated Statements of Operations include Nimble s operating results from the date of acquisition.

The results of operations for fiscal year 2003 include two out-of-period adjustments. During the preparation of the Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2003, Actuate discovered several unauthorized side agreements, customer allegations of unauthorized side arrangements and other matters relating to revenue recognition. In the period ended March 31, 2003, Actuate recorded a reduction of \$398,000 in revenues and an increase in the benefit for income taxes of \$170,000 to correct the accounting for these identified transactions. In conjunction with the review of the Company s accrued liability balances during the quarter ended September 30, 2003, Actuate recorded a reversal of accrued commissions as a reduction in operating expenses, approximately \$430,000 of which related to prior fiscal years.

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The reversal of the commission accrual, together with the reduction in revenues related to the existence of unauthorized side agreements, properly recorded in the respective prior fiscal years, would have the following annual impacts on Actuate s revenues, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Fiscal Year	Fiscal Year
	2001	2002
Revenue impact unauthorized side agreements	\$ (452)	\$ 54
Reversal of accrued compensation liability	438	(8)
Total net impact to operating income (loss)	(14)	46
Income tax benefit	(34)	(58)
Impact to net income (loss)	\$ 20	\$ 104
Impact to net income (loss) per share	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00

The Company does not believe that these amounts are material to the annual periods in which they should have been recorded, nor does the Company believe that these amounts are material to its consolidated operating results for the year ended December 31, 2003.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. On a regular basis, Actuate evaluates estimates, including those related to bad debts, intangible assets, income taxes and restructuring charges. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

#### Revenues

Actuate generates revenues from sales of software licenses and related services. The Company receives software license revenues from licensing its products directly to end-users and indirectly through resellers, system integrators and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). The Company receives service revenues from maintenance contracts, consulting services and training that Actuate performs for customers.

Actuate recognizes revenues in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2 (SOP 97-2), Software Revenue Recognition, as amended and modified by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions. For sales to end-user customers, Actuate recognizes license revenues when a license agreement has been signed by both parties or a definitive purchase order has been received from the customer, the product has been shipped, there are no unusual uncertainties surrounding the product acceptance, the fees are fixed or determinable, collectibility is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered elements of the arrangement. Vendor-specific objective evidence is based on the price charged when an element is sold separately. Actuate has not established vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for license fees. Therefore, the Company recognizes revenues from arrangements with multiple elements involving software licenses under the residual method. If the license agreement contains payment terms that would indicate that the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenues are recognized as the payments become due and payable, assuming that all other revenue recognition criteria are met.

## Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Actuate enters into reseller and distributor arrangements that typically give such distributors and resellers the right to distribute its products to end-users headquartered in specified territories. Actuate recognizes license revenues from arrangements with U.S. resellers and distributors when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the reseller or distributor, the product has been shipped, the fees are fixed or determinable and collectibility is probable. Actuate recognizes license revenues from arrangements with international resellers and distributors upon receipt of evidence of sell-through and when all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. If it is not practical to obtain evidence of sell-through, the Company defers revenues until the end-user has been identified and cash has been received. In some instances there is a timing difference between when a reseller completes its sale to the end-user and the period in which Actuate receives the documentation required for revenue recognition. Because Actuate delays revenue recognition until the required documentation is obtained, it may recognize revenue in a period subsequent to the period in which the reseller completes the sale to its end-user.

Actuate also enters into OEM arrangements that provide for license fees based on the bundling or embedding of its products with the OEMs products. These arrangements generally provide for fixed, irrevocable royalty payments. Actuate recognizes license fee revenues from U.S. OEM arrangements when a license agreement has been executed by both parties, the product has been shipped, there are no unusual uncertainties surrounding the product acceptance, the fees are fixed or determinable, collectibility is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered elements of the arrangement. For sales through international OEMs, the Company defers revenue until it receives a royalty report from such OEM assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. As discussed above, there may be a timing difference between the period in which the Company 's OEM completes the sale to its end-user, and the period in which the Company recognizes the revenue.

Credit-worthiness and collectibility for end-users are assessed based on payment history and current credit profile. When a customer is not deemed credit-worthy, revenues are deferred and recognized upon cash receipt.

Actuate recognizes maintenance revenues, which consist of fees for ongoing support and unspecified product updates, ratably over the term of the contract, typically one year. Consulting revenues are primarily related to implementation and configuration. Training revenues are generated from classes offered at the Company s headquarters and customer locations. Revenues from consulting and training services are recognized as the services are performed. When a contract includes both license and service elements, the license fee is recognized on delivery of the software and when all other revenue recognition criteria are met, provided services do not include significant customization or modification of the product and are not otherwise essential to the functionality of the software.

#### Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash deposited with banks and highly liquid, high-quality debt securities with maturities at the date of purchase of 90 days or less. All short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale, are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value based on quoted market price, and consist of high quality debt securities with original maturities over 90 days. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

Actuate views its available-for-sale portfolio securities with maturity beyond 90 days to be available for use in current operations. Accordingly, Actuate has classified all such marketable investments as short-term investments, even though the stated maturity dates may be one year or more beyond the current balance sheet date. In addition, all auction rate notes, including auction preferred and short-term municipals are classified as short-term investments regardless of the underlying reset date.

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company s cash, short-term investments, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximates the carrying amount, which is the amount for which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties.

#### Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of marketable investments and accounts receivable. Actuate places its investments with high-credit-quality multiple issuers. The Company sells to a diverse customer base, predominantly to customers in the United States. No single customer has accounted for more than 10% of sales in any period presented. Actuate does not require collateral on sales with credit terms.

The Company s accounts receivable is subject to collection risks. The Company s gross accounts receivable is reserved against this risk through an allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance is for estimated losses resulting from the inability of Actuate s customers to make required payments. It is a significant estimate and is regularly evaluated for adequacy by taking into consideration a combination of factors. The Company looks at factors such as past experience, credit quality of the customer, age of the receivable balance, and current economic conditions. These are reviewed to determine whether a specific reserve for bad debt should be recorded to reduce the related receivable to the amount believed to be collectible. The Company also specifically reserves for all outstanding domestic consulting, training, and maintenance renewal invoices which are older than a specified number of months past due.

The Company also records unspecified reserves for bad debt for all other customers based on a variety of factors, including length of time the receivables are past due and historical experience. A reserve percentage is applied to various aged categories of receivables based on historical experience to determine how much of an unspecified reserve is needed. The use of different estimates or assumptions could produce different allowance balances. If the financial condition of Actuate s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances might be required.

#### Software Development Costs

Software development costs associated with new products and enhancements to existing software products are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility in the form of a working model has been established. To date, the time period between the establishment of technological feasibility and completion of software development has been short, and no significant development costs have been incurred

during that period. Accordingly, Actuate has not capitalized any software development costs to date.

#### **Property and Equipment**

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, which range from two to eight years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life.

#### Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangible Assets

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141 (SFAS 141), Business Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(SFAS 142). Based on the adoption of these standards, goodwill and acquired workforce are no longer being amortized, and instead, are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently, if impairment indicators arise. Other intangible assets consist of customer lists, purchased technologies, non-compete agreements, and trademark acquired from various acquisitions. Intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions are recorded at their fair values using the income approach or cost approach. These other intangible assets are being amortized over the expected useful life not exceeding four years using the straight-line method. See Note 6 for further discussion.

#### Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of any asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less the costs to sell.

#### Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs are included in sales and marketing expense and amounted to \$480,000, \$712,000 and \$199,000 in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

#### Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax asset or liability account balances are calculated at the balance sheet date using current tax laws and rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that those assets will not be realized.

#### Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of each of the Company s foreign subsidiaries is the foreign subsidiary s local currency except for the Company s Cayman subsidiary, whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Actuate translates the assets and liabilities of its international non-U.S. functional currency subsidiaries into U.S. dollars at the rates of exchange in effect at the end of the period. Revenues and expenses are translated using rates that approximate those in effect during the period. Gains and losses from currency translation are included in stockholders equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Currency transaction gains or losses, which have not been significant to Actuate s operating results in any period, are recorded in interest and other income, net in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Accumulated translation adjustments are reported in stockholder s equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

#### Stock-Based Compensation

Actuate has several stock-based compensations plans, which are described more fully in Note 9. Actuate grants stock options for a fixed number of shares to employees with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the shares at the date of grant. Recently, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure an amendment of SFAS No. 123 (SFAS 148). This statement amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, (SFAS 123) to provide alternative

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. Actuate has not adopted the recognition provisions of SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148, and continues to account for stock-based compensation under the intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, (APB 25) and related Interpretations.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148, to stock-based employee compensation (in thousands, except per share data):

	Year ended December 31,		
	2004	2003	2002
Net Income (loss) as reported	\$ 1,298	\$ (4,497)	\$ (25,471)
Less: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value method for all awards, net of tax effect	(8,625)	(21,274)	(47,314)
Net loss pro forma	\$ (7,327)	\$ (25,771)	\$ (72,785)
Net income (loss) per share as reported:			
Basic	\$.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)
Diluted	\$.02	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.42)
Net income (loss) per share pro forma:			
Basic	\$ (.12)	\$ (0.42)	\$ (1.21)
Diluted	\$ (.12)	\$ (0.42)	\$ (1.21)

See Note 9 for discussion of the assumptions used in the option pricing model and estimated fair value of employee stock options.

Actuate accounts for stock awards issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force No. 96-18, (EITF 96-18), Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issues To Others Than Employees for Acquiring, or In Conjunction With Selling Goods or Services. Under SFAS 123 and EITF 96-18, stock awards to non-employees are accounted for at their fair value using the

Black-Scholes method.

#### Net Income (loss) Per Share

*Earnings Per Share.* The Company computes basic earnings per share using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, less weighted average shares subject to repurchase. The Company computes diluted earnings per share using the weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive stock options outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method. Due to the net losses incurred for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, the effect of employee stock options is anti-dilutive in those periods.

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The table below reconciles the weighted-average common shares used to calculate basic net income (loss) per share with the weighted-average common shares used to calculate diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands).

	Year ended December 31,		
	2004	2003	2002
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding	61,577	60,766	60,154
Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase			(13)
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share	61,577	60,766	60,141
Weighted-average dilutive stock options outstanding under the treasury stock method	3,625		
Weighted-average common shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share	65,202	60,766	60,141
	_	_	

All outstanding stock options and shares subject to repurchase have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share in fiscal year 2002 because all such stock options are anti-dilutive for that period. There were no outstanding stock options or shares subject to repurchase in fiscal years 2004 or 2003. The weighted-average number of common shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share was 17,810,000 and 18,110,000 in fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. Such stock options, had they been dilutive, would have been included in the computation of diluted net loss per share using the treasury stock method. In fiscal year 2004, the Company excluded 7,911,000 stock options from Actuate s calculation of weighted-average common shares used in computing dilutive net income per share as they were anti-dilutive for the net income per share calculation. These anti-dilutive options could be dilutive in the future.

The weighted average exercise price of excluded stock options was \$4.68, \$2.95 and \$8.63 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

#### **Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)**

Other comprehensive income (loss) includes currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains and (losses) on short-term investments that are not included in net income (loss), but rather are recorded directly in stockholders equity. Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss), and has been disclosed in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity. The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows (in thousands):

	2004	2003
Foreign currency translation adjustments	\$ (321)	\$ (293)
Net unrealized losses on securities	(68)	
	\$ (389)	\$ (293)

## Segment Information

Actuate is principally engaged in the design, development, marketing and support of Actuate Enterprise Reporting Application Platform. Actuate s chief operating decision maker (the Chief Executive Officer) reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Accordingly,

#### Index to Financial Statements

#### ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Actuate considers itself to be in a single reportable segment, specifically the license, implementation and support of its software products.

Actuate evaluates the performance of its geographic regions based primarily on revenues. Actuate does not regularly assess the performance of its geographic regions on other measures of income or expense, such as depreciation and amortization, operating income or net income. In addition, as Actuate s assets are primarily located in its corporate office in the United States and not allocated to any specific region, Actuate does not produce reports for, or measure the performance of, its geographic regions based on any asset-based metrics. Therefore, geographic information is presented only for revenues in Note 12.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In December 2004, the FASB enacted SFAS No. 123 revised 2004 (SFAS 123R), Share-Based Payment, which replaces SFAS No. 123 (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R requires the measurement of all employee share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a fair-value-based method and the recording of such expense in Actuate s consolidated statements of income. The accounting provisions of SFAS 123R are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Actuate is required to adopt SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will be an alternative to financial statement recognition. See disclosure above for the pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share amounts, for fiscal year 2002 through fiscal year 2004, as if Actuate had used a fair-value-based method similar to the methods required under SFAS 123R to measure compensation expense for employee stock incentive awards. Although Actuate has not yet determined whether the adoption of SFAS 123R will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS 123, Actuate is evaluating the requirements under SFAS 123R and expects the adoption to have a significant adverse impact on its consolidated statements of operations and net income per share.

In December 2004, FASB Staff Position No. FAS 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (FSP FAS 109-2) was issued, providing guidance under SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes for recording the potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, enacted on October 22, 2004. FSP FAS 109-2 allows time beyond the financial reporting period of enactment to evaluate the effects of the Jobs Act before applying the requirements of FSP FAS 109-2. Accordingly, Actuate is evaluating the potential effects of the Jobs Act and has not adjusted its tax expense or deferred tax liabilities to reflect the requirements of FSP FAS 109-2.

#### **Reclassifications**

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. Such reclassifications had no impact on the results of operations or stockholders equity for the years presented.

#### 2. Investment in Actuate Japan

As of December 31, 2004, the Company owns 66.7% of the outstanding shares of Actuate Japan. The minority shareholders of Actuate Japan have the option to put their 33.3% equity interest (Minority Interest) in Actuate Japan and the Company has the option to call the Minority Interest for approximately \$1.3 million. The price increases each year by 2% over the then prevailing long-term prime rate. Actuate s policy is to record a loss, if any, at the time that the put or call is probable of being exercised. Should an indicator arise that the Minority Interest has declined in value below the exercise price of the put option, the Company would conclude

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

that exercise is probable at that point in time and recognize a liability for the intrinsic value of the option. Actuate has not recorded any losses on the put/call option to date.

#### 3. Acquisitions

On July 25, 2003, Actuate acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Nimble Technology, Inc. (Nimble), a privately held Enterprise Information Integration (EII) software company. The results of operations of Nimble are included in Actuate's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. Nimble's EII product enables organizations to intelligently harness business information and to simplify the task of data integration when building web services and applications. Actuate intends to enhance and improve its product capabilities by incorporating Nimble's EII technology into its existing products.

Nimble was considered to be a development stage enterprise and did not meet the definition of a business under SFAS 141, *Business Combinations*, for business combination purposes. In accordance with SFAS 141, the acquisition of Nimble was accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The total purchase price was \$4.8 million, consisting of a net cash payment of \$3.1 million, net assumed liabilities of \$1.6 million and acquisition-related expenses of \$101,000. The total purchase price was allocated to various tangible and identifiable intangible assets, which consisted of \$172,000 of cash, accounts receivable of \$5,000, fixed assets of \$255,000, acquired workforce of \$408,000, purchased in-process research and development of \$600,000, core technology of \$3.1 million, and \$248,000 of deferred compensation. The identifiable intangible assets of acquired workforce and core technology are being amortized on a straight-line basis over two years and five years, respectively. Purchased in-process research and development was expensed in the quarter ended September 30, 2003 because the purchased in-process research and development had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative uses. The value of the purchased in-process research and development was computed using the cost approach, which estimated the value by determining the current cost of replacing an asset with one of equivalent economic utility. The value of the core technology was computed using a discounted cash flow analysis based on management s estimates of future revenues and operating costs and expenses related to the technologies acquired from Nimble.

#### 4. Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

All cash equivalents and short-term investments have been classified as available for-sale securities and are detailed as follows (in thousands):

		Net Unrealized	Net Unrealized	
	Cost	Gains	Losses	Estimated Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2004				
Classified as cash and cash equivalents:				
Cash	\$ 6,313	\$	\$	\$ 6,313

Money market funds	1,028				1,028
	7,341				7,341
Classified as short-term investments:					
Auction Preferred	8,747		3		8,750
Corporate Bonds	3,108			(14)	3,094
Federal and municipal obligations	28,146			(58)	28,088
	40,001		3	(72)	39,932
Total	\$ 47,342	\$	3	\$ (72)	\$ 47,273
		_			

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

		Net Unrealized	Net Unrealized	Estimated
	Cost	Gains	Losses	Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2003				
Classified as cash and cash equivalents:				
Cash	\$ 4,834	\$	\$	\$ 4,834
Money market funds	1,016			1,016
	5,850			5,850
Classified as short-term investments:	,			,
Auction Preferred	14,990			14,990
Federal and municipal obligations	24,599			24,599
x C				
	39,589			39,589
Total	\$ 45,439	\$	\$	\$ 45,439

Any individual security in the above tables with an unrealized loss has been in a continuous unrealized loss position for less than twelve months and the Company does not believe that the impairment is other than temporary.

As of December 31, 2004, the stated maturities of the Company s short-term investments are \$20.9 million within one year and \$19.0 million beyond one year. As of December 31, 2003, the stated maturities of the Company s short-term investments are \$21.6 million within one year and \$18.0 million beyond one year. These investments are generally classified as available-for-sale and are recorded on the balance sheet at fair market value with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax. Actuate views all of its marketable securities as available for use in current operations. Accordingly, Actuate has classified all of its marketable securities as short-term investments, even though the stated maturity dates may be one year or more beyond the current balance sheet date.

In addition, all auction rate securities, including auction preferred and short-term municipals, are classified as short-term investments regardless of the underlying reset date. Auction rate securities in the amount of \$3.1 million have been reclassified from cash and cash equivalents to short-term investments in the accompanying December 31, 2003 consolidated balance sheet to conform to the fiscal 2004 financial statements presentation. In addition, auction rate securities in the amount of \$16.8 million have been reclassified from cash and cash equivalents to short-term investments in the December 31, 2002 consolidated balance sheet not included in this Annual Report. Accordingly, the statements of cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 reflect this presentation.

#### 5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

	Decem	ber 31,
	2004	2003
Furniture and fixtures	\$ 3,983	\$ 3,853
Computers and purchased software	7,537	4,416
Leasehold improvements	3,843	3,740
		·
Total	15,363	12,009
Less accumulated depreciation	(9,205)	(6,912)
Property and equipment, net	\$ 6,158	\$ 5,097

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2004, the Company began the implementation of a new enterprise accounting system. In accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, all appropriate implementation costs are being capitalized from the beginning of the implementation of the project until the date in which the implementation is substantially complete. Capitalizable costs include all internal and external costs incurred to develop the internal use software during the application development stage. Such costs include the cost of external consultants and payroll and payroll related costs for personnel directly associated with the project.

The Company activated the new accounting system in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. However, the Company was still in the application development stage of the project and continued to incur significant costs to further complete the implementation subsequent to the activation date. Such costs will continue to be capitalized in accordance with SOP No. 98-1 until the system is deemed to be substantially complete. As of December 31, 2004, a total of \$2.7 million has been capitalized under this project. The total capitalized implementation costs are being amortized over an estimated useful life of seven years. Amortization began upon activation of the new system in August of fiscal year 2004.

#### 6. Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangible Assets

As of January 1, 2002, Actuate adopted SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which addresses the financial accounting and reporting standards for goodwill and other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition. This accounting standard requires that goodwill no longer be amortized, and instead, be tested for impairment annually, or more frequently, if impairment indicators arise.

In accordance with SFAS 142, Actuate discontinued the amortization of goodwill effective January 1, 2002. In addition, the Company reclassified \$2.3 million of acquired workforce, which is no longer defined as an acquired intangible asset under SFAS 142, to goodwill.

The provisions of SFAS 142 required the completion of a transitional impairment test within six months of adopting the accounting standard, and any impairments identified must be treated as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, Actuate completed the transitional impairment test, which did not result in an impairment of recorded goodwill. The provisions of SFAS 142 also require an annual impairment test, which Actuate completed on October 1, 2002, October 1, 2003, and October 1, 2004. These annual impairment tests also did not result in an impairment of recorded goodwill.

Other purchased intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2004

December 31, 2003

	Gross Carrying	Gross Carrying Accumulated Net O		Gross Carrying	Accumulated	Net
	Amount	Amortization	Balance	Amount	Amortization	Balance
Customer lists	\$ 10,600	\$ (10,396)	\$ 204	\$ 10,600	\$ (9,896)	\$ 704
Workforce	408	(289)	119	408	(85)	323
Purchased technologies	6,767	(4,136)	2,631	6,767	(2,605)	4,162
Non-compete agreements	1,030	(938)	92	1,030	(707)	323
Trademark	700	(629)	71	700	(453)	247
	\$ 19,505	\$ (16,388)	\$ 3,117	\$ 19,505	\$ (13,746)	\$ 5,759

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Amortization expense of other intangible assets was \$2.6 million; \$3.2 million and \$4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The remaining annual amortization expense is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year	Amortizati Amount	
2005 2006 2007	\$ 1,4	186
2006	\$ 1,4	532
2007	6	531
2008	3	368
	\$ 3,1	.17

#### 7. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of the following:

	Decem	ıber 31,
	2004	2003
Maintenance and support	\$ 25,168	\$ 23,346
Other	3,595	\$ 23,346 2,444
	\$ 28,763	\$ 25,790

Maintenance and support consists of first year maintenance and support services associated with the initial purchase of Actuate s software, and the renewal of annual maintenance and support services from customers who purchased Actuate s software in prior periods. The maintenance and support period is generally 12 months. Accordingly, the maintenance and support revenues are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance and support period.

Other deferred revenue consisted of deferred license, training and consulting fees generated from arrangements, which did not meet some or all of the revenue recognition criteria of SOP No. 97-2 and are, therefore, deferred until all revenue recognition criteria have been met.

#### 8. Commitments

#### **Operating Lease Commitments**

Actuate leases its headquarter facilities under non-cancelable operating leases expiring in March 2008. For leases with escalating rent payments, rent expense is amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. The Company has deferred rent of \$389,000 and \$406,000 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In December 2000, the Company entered into a ten-year building lease agreement for additional office space in a building adjacent to Actuate s headquarters in South San Francisco, California. Actuate has not occupied any space in this facility. However, Actuate does sublease some of the space in this adjacent facility to a third party. The Company recorded a charge of \$24.8 million related to the exit of this idle facility during fiscal year 2002. See Note 10 (Restructuring Charges) for further discussion. In conjunction with the signing of these two building leases, Actuate provided the landlord with a letter of credit in the amount of \$3.9 million as a security deposit. Actuate has granted a security interest in all of its assets as a security for the letter of credit.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In addition to the Company s operating leases related to its headquarters, Actuate also has operating leases for various smaller facilities which house its foreign offices. Rent expense for facilities under operating leases was approximately \$5.0 million in fiscal year 2004, \$5.0 million in fiscal year 2003, and \$6.7 million in fiscal year 2002. Aggregate minimum lease commitments under all operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year	e minimum payment	Future contractual sublease proceeds	Net future minimum lease payments		
2005	\$ 6,845	\$ (1,266)	\$	5,579	
2006	6,211	(212)		5,999	
2007	6,103			6,103	
2008	3,872			3,872	
2009	3,660			3,660	
Thereafter	4,845			4,845	
	\$ 31,536	\$ (1,478)	\$	30,058	

#### 9. Stockholders Equity

## **Preferred Stock**

Under the terms of the certificate of incorporation, the board of directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, to issue the preferred stock in one or more series. Each series shall have the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, such as dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, redemption prices, liquidation preferences and the right to increase or decrease the number of shares of any series, as the board of directors shall determine. The board of directors may issue preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Actuate and could adversely affect the market price of the common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of common stock. The Company currently has no plans to issue any of the preferred stock.

#### Stock Option Plans

*1998 Equity Incentive Plan.* In May 1998, the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1998 Plan ) was adopted by the board of directors and approved by the stockholders in July 1998. Employees, consultants and directors are eligible for awards under the 1998 Plan. Initially, a total of 5,200,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the 1998 Plan. As of January 1 of each year, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 1998 Plan will be increased automatically by the lesser of (i) 5% of the total number of shares of common stock then outstanding or (ii) 2,800,000 shares.

Under the 1998 Plan, eligible participants may be awarded options to purchase shares of common stock, stock appreciation rights (SARs), restricted shares or stock units (collectively, the Awards). Options under the 1998 Plan may be incentive stock options designed to satisfy Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code) or non-statutory stock options not designed to meet such requirements. If restricted shares or shares issued upon the exercise of options granted under the 1998 Plan are forfeited, then such shares will again become available for awards under the 1998 Plan. If stock units, options or SARs granted under the 1998 Plan are forfeited or terminated for any other reason before being exercised, then the corresponding shares will again become available for awards under the 1998 Plan. The exercise price for non-statutory and incentive stock options granted under the 1998 Plan may not be less than 85% or 100%, respectively, of the fair market value of the common stock on the option grant date. The Board may amend or terminate the 1998 Plan at any time. Amendments may be subject to stockholder approval to the extent required by applicable laws.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Options granted under the 1998 Plan are exercisable when vested. Shares generally vest at the rate of 20% or 25% after one year from the date of grant and the remaining balance vesting monthly over the next four or three years. Upon a change in control, an Award under the 1998 Plan will become fully vested as to all shares subject to such Award if such Award is not assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent and the surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute such Award with another award of substantially the same terms. In the event of an involuntary termination of a participant within 12 months following a change in control, the vesting of an Award under the 1998 Plan will accelerate in full. All outstanding repurchase rights under the 1998 Plan shall terminate automatically upon the occurrence of any merger, consolidation, or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company s assets, except to the extent the repurchase rights are expressly assigned to the successor corporation. As of December 31, 2004, 9,001,221 shares of common stock were reserved and available for future grants under the 1998 Option Plan.

*2001 Supplemental Stock Plan.* In January 2001, the board of directors adopted the 2001 Supplemental Stock Plan (the 2001 Plan ). A total of 2,700,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2001 Plan. Employees and consultants are eligible for awards under the 2001 Plan. Members of the board of directors and officers of Actuate are not eligible to receive awards under the 2001 Plan.

Under the 2001 Plan, eligible participants may be awarded options to purchase shares of common stock and restricted shares only. All options granted under the 2001 Plan are non-statutory stock options. If restricted shares or shares issued upon the exercise of options granted under the 2001 Plan are forfeited, then such shares will again become available for awards under the 2001 Plan. The exercise price for non-statutory and incentive stock options granted under the 2001 Plan may not be less than 85% or 100%, respectively, of the fair market value of the common stock on the option grant date. The Board may amend or terminate the 2001 Plan at any time. Amendments may be subject to stockholder approval to the extent required by applicable laws.

Options granted under the 2001 Plan are exercisable when vested. Shares generally vest at the rate of 25% after one year from the date of grant and the remaining balance vesting monthly over the next four years. Upon a change in control, an Award under the 2001 Plan will become fully vested as to all shares subject to such Award if such Award is not assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent and the surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute such Award with another award of substantially the same terms. In the event of an involuntary termination of a participant within 12 months following a change in control, the vesting of an Award under the 2001 Plan will accelerate in full. All outstanding repurchase rights under the 2001 Plan shall terminate automatically upon the occurrence of any merger, consolidation, or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company s assets, except to the extent the repurchase rights are expressly assigned to the successor corporation. As of December 31, 2004, 619,110 shares of common stock were reserved and available for future grants under the 2001 Option Plan.

*Tidestone Technologies Stock Option Plans.* Tidestone Technologies, Inc. s 1998 Incentive Stock Option Plan (T-98 Option Plan) and Non-qualified Stock Option Plan of 1999 (T-99 Option Plan) were assumed by the Company on May 30, 2001, in connection with the acquisition of Tidestone. The T-98 Option Plan and the T-99 Option Plan are collectively known as the Tidestone Option Plans. Each option under the Tidestone Option Plans was converted into a right to receive an option to purchase shares of Actuate s common stock. A total of 77,968 and 70,509 shares of common stock have been authorized for issuance under the T-98 Option Plan and T-99 Option Plan, respectively.

All options granted under the T-98 Option Plan are incentive stock options qualified under Section 422 of the Code, with a vesting term of five years while the options granted under the T-99 Option Plan are non-statutory stock options with a vesting term of three years. Options granted under the Tidestone Option Plans are

# Index to Financial Statements

## ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

generally exercisable upon grant, subject to repurchase rights by us until vested. Under the T-99 Option Plan, shares generally vest at the rate 33% annually. Under the T-98 Option Plan, shares generally vest at the rate of 20% annually. Upon a change in control, an Award under the Tidestone Option Plans will become fully vested as to all shares subject to such Award if such Award is not assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent and the surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute such Award with another award of substantially the same terms. As of December 31, 2004, 31,722 and 2,055 shares of common stock were reserved and available for future grants under the T-98 Option and T-99 Option Plan, respectively.

*1998 Non-Employee Director Option Plan.* The 1998 Non-Employee Directors Option Plan (the Directors Option Plan ) was adopted by the board of directors in May 1998, and approved by the stockholders in July 1998. The Director Option Plan provides for non-employee members of the Board of Directors to be eligible for automatic option grants. 800,000 shares of common stock have been authorized for issuance under the Directors Option Plan. Each individual who first joins the board as a non-employee director, whether through election or appointment, will receive at that time an automatic option grant for 80,000 shares of common stock. With respect to the initial automatic option grant, the option will become exercisable as to 25% of the shares after one year of board service, with the balance of the shares becoming exercisable ratably in 36 monthly installments over the remaining period of optionee s board service. At each annual stockholders meeting beginning in fiscal year 1999, each current non-employee director will automatically be granted a stock option to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock, whether or not he or she is standing for re-election at that particular meeting, which will become fully vested and exercisable on the first anniversary of such meeting. Each option will have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the automatic grant date and a maximum term of ten years, subject to earlier termination following the optionee s cessation of Board service.

The Board may amend or modify the Directors Option Plan at any time. The Directors Option Plan will terminate on May 27, 2008, unless terminated sooner by the board. However, vesting will automatically accelerate in full upon (i) an acquisition of Actuate by merger, consolidation or asset sale, (ii) a tender offer for more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock or proxy contest for Board membership or (iii) the death or disability of the optionee while serving as a Board member. As of December 31, 2004, 410,000 shares of common stock were reserved and available for future grants under the Directors Option Plan.

Stock Option Exchange Program

2002 Option Exchange Program

On July 25, 2002, Actuate s board of directors approved a voluntary stock option exchange program whereby employees were given the opportunity, if they so chose, to cancel outstanding stock options previously granted to them that were priced at \$5.00 and above in exchange for an equal number of new options. Employees choosing to participate in this exchange were required to cancel all options granted in the past six months, even if such options were granted at below \$5.00 per share. The new options were granted six months and one day following the date of cancellation of the original options with the exercise price equaling the fair market value at the date of the new grant. The new options had the same vesting schedule as the cancelled options. The exchange program has been organized to comply with FASB Interpretation No. 44 Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation and did not result in any additional compensation charges or variable plan

accounting. All employees of the Company were eligible to participate in this program.

The total number of shares cancelled on August 30, 2002 under this 2002 Option Exchange Program was 10,053,821. The average price per share of the options cancelled was \$13.82 and the new option price for options granted on March 3, 2003 under the 2002 Option Exchange Program was \$1.49 per share. The new options have the same vesting schedule as the cancelled options.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Activity under all option plans was as follows:

		Outstanding Options			W	eighted-
	Shares Available For Grant	Number of Shares	Pı	rice Per Share	E	verage xercise Price
Balance at January 1, 2002	2,362,773	21,537,563	\$	0.06-\$35.25	\$	9.77
Additional authorization	2,800,000					
Options granted	(2,967,890)	2,967,890	\$	0.78-\$20.63	\$	4.35
Options exercised		(782,321)	\$	0.06-\$6.06	\$	1.98
Options forfeited	3,741,100	(3,741,100)	\$	0.16-\$34.94	\$	8.81
Options cancelled in connection with the stock option exchange program	10,053,821	(10,053,821)	\$	1.78-\$31.19	\$	13.82
Options repurchased	3,000		\$	0.53-\$0.75	\$	0.57
Balance at December 31, 2002	15,992,804	9,928,211	\$	0.06-\$35.25	\$	4.95
Additional authorization	2,800,000					
Options granted	(11,773,183)	11,773,183	\$	1.27-\$4.16	\$	1.67
Options exercised		(1,050,527)	\$	0.06-\$3.75	\$	1.48
Options forfeited	1,408,668	(1,408,668)	\$	1.04-\$35.25	\$	8.81
Balance at December 31, 2003	8,428,289	19,242,199	\$	0.06-\$31.19	\$	2.85
Additional authorization	2,800,000					
Options granted	(3,220,800)	3,220,800	\$	2.40-\$4.28	\$	2.92
Options exercised		(1,362,476)	\$	0.06-\$3.75	\$	1.54
Options forfeited	2,056,619	(2,021,390)	\$	0.79-\$6.90	\$	3.43
Balance at December 31, 2004	10,064,108	19,079,133	\$	0.06-\$31.19	\$	2.90
·	, , ,	, , ,				

		Options Outstanding				<b>Options Exercisable</b>			
Range of Exercise Prices	Number of Shares			0	Number of Shares	Weighted-Average Exercise Price			
\$0.06-\$1.04	504.840	4.31 years	\$	0.51	407.900	\$	0.39		
\$1.25-\$2.99	11,173,736	8.05 years	\$	1.82	7,988,358	\$	1.52		
\$3.00-\$6.90	6,980,747	6.53 years	\$	4.05	5,502,601	\$	4.09		
\$7.59-\$17.25	253,800	6.26 years	\$	9.54	247,295	\$	9.57		
\$17.50-\$31.19	166,010	5.57 years	\$	24.25	164,333	\$	24.31		

\$0.06-\$31.19	19,079,133	7.35 years	\$ 2.90	14,310,487	\$ 2.88

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, 14,310,487 and 13,353,051 options were vested and exercisable, respectively.

#### 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Purchase Plan ) was adopted by the board of directors in May 1998, and approved by the stockholders in July 1998. A total of 1,000,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the Purchase Plan. On January 1 of each year, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Purchase Plan is automatically increased by 600,000 shares. The Purchase Plan is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Code. Each calendar year, two overlapping 24-month offering periods will commence on February 1 and August 1. Each offering period contains four six-month accumulation periods, with

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

purchases occurring at the end of each six-month accumulation period. If the market price of Actuate s stock at the end of any six-month purchase period is lower than the stock price at the original grant date, the plan is cancelled immediately after that purchase date. A new 24-month offering period is established using the then-current stock price as the base purchase price. The Purchase Plan permits each eligible employee to purchase common stock through payroll deductions, which may not exceed 15% of an employee s cash compensation. No more than 500 shares may be purchased by any individual on any accumulation date. The price of each share of common stock purchased under the Purchase Plan will be 85% of the lower of (i) the fair market value per share of common stock on the date immediately prior to the first date of the applicable offering period or (ii) the date at the end of the applicable accumulation period. Employees may end their participation in the Purchase Plan at any time during the accumulation period, and participation ends automatically upon termination of employment with us. As of December 31, 2004, 4,125,758 shares had been purchased under the Purchase Plan and 474,242 shares of common stock were reserved and available for future issuance.

As of December 31, 2004, shares of common stock reserved for future issuance consisted of 10,538,350 securities available for future issuance and 19,079,133 of options outstanding.

#### **Pro Forma Information**

Until the Company s required adoption of SFAS 123R in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005, Actuate has elected to follow APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock options. This was initially done because the alternative fair value accounting provided for under SFAS 123 require the use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employee stock options. Under APB 25, because the exercise price of Actuate s employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

Pro forma information regarding net income (loss) is required by SFAS 123, which requires that the information be determined as if the Company has accounted for its employee stock-based awards under the fair value method of SFAS 123. The fair value of the options granted in all periods was estimated using the Black-Scholes method, with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	Year en	Year ended December 31,			
	2004	2003	2002		
Dividends		0%	0%		
Risk-free interest rate	2.67%	3.38%	3.03%		
Expected life (in years)	3.0	3.0	3.0		
Expected volatility	1.13%	93%	131%		

The pro forma amounts disclosed in Note 1 may not be representative of the effects on pro forma net income (loss) for future years as options vest over several years, additional awards may be granted and awards may be cancelled in subsequent years.

The weighted-average deemed fair value of stock options granted was \$2.39 in fiscal year 2004, \$1.23 in fiscal year 2003 and \$3.72 in fiscal year 2002.

During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, Actuate issued 125,913 shares, 1,492,742 shares and 1,008,276 shares, respectively, under the Purchase Plan. The weighted-average deemed fair value of employees stock purchase rights under the Purchase Plan during fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 was \$1.54, \$1.28, and \$2.98, respectively. The fair value of the purchase rights granted in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 was estimated on

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 3.38%, 1.31% and 1.45% for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively; expected dividend yield of zero percent and expected life of six months for fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002; and expected volatility of 93%, 93% and 131% for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

#### Stock Repurchase Program

On September 19, 2001, the Company s board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to \$6.0 million of our common stock. On October 24, 2002 and April 28, 2004 Actuate s board of directors extended the stock repurchase program by authorizing the management to repurchase up to an additional \$3.0 million and \$1.5 million worth of Company s common stock, respectively. On July 28, 2004, the Company s board of directors authorized management to repurchase, on an on-going basis, up to \$1.5 million Actuate common stock each calendar quarter. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the board of directors suspended the repurchase program.

Following is a table detailing the number of shares repurchased and amount paid by fiscal year (in thousands except share amounts):

Fiscal Year	Shares Repurchased	Amount Paid
2001	430,000	\$ 1,805
2002	2,068,300	\$ 4,161
2003	1,040,817	\$ 2,964
2004	824,300	\$ 2,690

#### 10. Restructuring Charges

#### 2004 Restructuring Plan

During fiscal year 2004, the Company underwent a restructuring that was carried out in two phases. The first occurred in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004 when the Company initiated a restructuring of our French operation. The Company undertook this restructuring in order to size the operation to meet the expected business and economic environment for its products in France and to shift its sales strategy in France from one based primarily on direct sales to a strategy more dependent on indirect sales channels. This restructuring consisted primarily of a workforce reduction and associated legal expenses which resulted in a headcount reduction of five people and associated severance, benefit and related legal costs of \$586,000 during the first quarter of 2004.

In early October 2004, Actuate implemented an additional restructuring. This company-wide restructuring was undertaken to align the Company s cost structure with future revenue expectations. The costs associated with this restructuring totalled \$1.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 and were primarily comprised of severance and related costs. The restructuring plan resulted in the elimination of approximately 9% of the Company s worldwide workforce or 53 positions across all levels and functions. The employee termination benefits were communicated to the affected employees by December 31, 2004. The Company expects to incur an additional expenditure of approximately \$600,000 in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005 related to this restructuring. These additional charges are primarily related to idle facility costs of Actuate s French facility. According to the SFAS No. 146 (SFAS 146) Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities , in order to record the costs related to an idle facility, the Company must first cease use of the facility. Actuate expects to cease use of its French facility in the first quarter of fiscal year 2005.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2002 Restructuring Plan

In response to the continuing global economic slowdown, Actuate developed a workforce reduction and a facility exit plan in the third quarter of fiscal year 2002. As a result of this restructuring plan, Actuate recorded a charge of \$27.1 million (consisting of a \$24.8 million idle facility charge and a \$2.3 million workforce reduction charge) in the third quarter of fiscal year 2002. The goal of this restructuring plan was to reduce costs and improve operating efficiencies to adjust to the current business environment. Specifically, it was the Company s decision, under this plan, to eliminate excess facility capacity in light of its revised facility requirements and to reduce worldwide headcount by approximately 14% (or 80 employees). These initial restructuring charges were based on assumptions and related estimates that were deemed appropriate for the economic environment that existed at the time these estimates were made. However, due to the changes to Actuate s previous assumptions and estimates of its severance and benefits liabilities and the final terms and conditions of its facility subleases, Actuate made the appropriate adjustments, in the second quarter of fiscal year 2003, to the initial restructuring charges recorded in fiscal year 2002. These adjustments were immaterial and had no net effect on Actuate s consolidated financial statements.

Actuate initially recorded a charge of \$24.8 million related to the exit of its idle facility. The facility exit charge was calculated using management s best estimates and included \$21.5 million of estimated future obligations for non-cancelable lease payments (net of \$10.2 million of estimated sublease income) and estimated costs associated with subleasing the property (e.g., leasing commissions). The remaining \$3.3 million was related to the write-off of furniture and fixtures associated with the 801 Gateway facilities. As discussed above, Actuate made an adjustment of \$188,000 to increase this facility exit liability during the second quarter of fiscal year 2003. The facility had been idle since the leasing term began in May 2001 and Actuate formally made a decision to exit this facility during the third quarter of fiscal year 2002. The estimated costs of exiting the facility, including estimated costs to sublease, were based on market information and trend analysis. As of December 31, 2004, \$15.0 million of lease exit costs, net of anticipated sublease income, remain accrued and are expected to be fully utilized by fiscal year 2011. In calculating the facility exit charge, certain assumptions were made relating to such factors as the estimated time periods of vacancy and sublease income is significantly different from current estimates or if the Company is unsuccessful in its efforts to sublease its facility. The facility exit charge also included a \$3.4 million write-off of property and equipment (primarily leaseholds improvements) as a result of the abandonment of leased facilities.

Actuate also recorded a workforce reduction charge of \$2.3 million related to severance and fringe benefits for terminated employees. The restructuring resulted in the termination of 90 employees across all employee levels, business functions, operating units and geographic regions. As of December 31, 2002, approximately 70 employees had been terminated as a result of the restructuring. The remaining employee terminations were completed and the remaining severance amounts totaling \$480,000 were paid in 2003.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table summarizes the analysis of the restructuring accrual activity for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 (in thousands):

	Severance		Facility	Facility	
	& I	Benefits	Write-off	Related	Total
Balance at December 31, 2001	\$	77	\$	\$	\$ 77
Restructuring charges during fiscal 2002		2,274	3,382	21,480	27,136
Cash payments		(1,683)		(1,735)	(3,418)
Non-cash charges			(3,382)		(3,382)
Reclassification of deferred rent				450	450
Balance at December 31, 2002	\$	668		\$ 20,195	\$ 20,863
Cash payments		(480)		(3,767)	(4,247)
Changes in estimate		(188)		188	
Rents collected on the sublease				646	646
Balance at December 31, 2003				17,262	17,262
Restructuring charge in Q1		586			586
Restructuring charge in Q4		1,420			1,420
Cash payments		(612)		(3,649)	(4,261)
Changes in estimate		(125)			(125)
Rents collected on the sublease				1,352	1,352
		1,269		14,965	16,234
Less: Current portion		(1,235)		(2,434)	(3,669)
-					
Balance at December 31, 2004	\$	34	\$	\$ 12,531	\$ 12,565

#### 11. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

.

Federal:			
Current	\$ 544	\$ 153	\$ 2,472
Deferred		2,730	(2,198)
	544	2,883	274
State:			
Current	155	44	210
Deferred		234	(188)
	155	278	22
Foreign:			
Current	187	381	280
Deferred			
	187	381	280
Provision for income taxes	\$ 886	\$ 3,542	\$ 576

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The tax benefits associated with exercises of stock options reduced taxes currently payable as shown above by \$880,000, \$163,000, and \$2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Such benefits were credited to additional paid-in capital when realized. Tax benefits associated with the reduction of tax reserves reduced taxes currently payable by \$333,000 in 2004. Tax benefits associated with the utilization of acquired net operating loss carryforwards reduced taxes currently payable as shown above by \$288,000 in 2002. Such benefits were credited to goodwill in 2002.

The loss before income taxes for foreign operations was \$3.5 million, \$5.4 million, and \$8.7 million, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The profit (loss) before income taxes for domestic operations was \$5.7 million, \$4.4 million, and \$(16.2) million, for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory rate (35 percent) to income before taxes is explained below (in thousands):

	Year	Year ended December 31,			
	2004	2003	2002		
Income taxes at federal statutory rate	\$ 764	\$ (334)	\$ (8,713)		
Non-deductible goodwill		210			
Operating loss not utilized	601	3,944	9,569		
State tax, net of federal benefit	125	181	15		
Tax credits	(319)	(442)	(353)		
Reduction of tax reserves	(333)				
Other	48	(17)	58		
	\$ 886	\$ 3,542	\$ 576		

As of December 31, 2004, Actuate had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$44 million and \$5.6 million, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in the year 2012 through 2024 if not utilized. The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in the year 2005 through 2014 if not utilized. As of December 31, 2004 Actuate had federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of approximately \$4.2 million and \$5.5 million, respectively. The federal research credits will expire at various dates beginning in the year 2013 through 2024 if not utilized.

Utilization of the net operating losses and tax credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.

United States income and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided for undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. The undistributed earnings on a book basis for the non-U.S. subsidiaries are \$1.9 million. Actuate intends to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in its operations outside the U.S.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for federal and states are as follows (in thousands):

	Deceml	ber 31,
	2004	2003
Deferred Tax Assets		
Net operating loss carryforwards	\$ 2,651	\$ 3,215
Research credit carryforwards	4,381	4,320
Capitalized research and development	57	125
Depreciation and amortization	3,496	2,099
Accruals and allowances not currently tax deductible	9,417	9,568
Total deferred tax assets	20,002	19,327
Valuation allowance	(18,400)	(17,267)
Net deferred tax assets	\$ 1,602	\$ 2,060
Deferred Tax Liabilities		
Acquired intangible assets	\$ 1,602	\$ 2,060

SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes , provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets is more likely than not. The net valuation allowance increased by approximately \$1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 and \$1.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2003. The \$1.1 million increase in fiscal year 2004 results from increases in gross deferred tax assets of approximately \$675,000, and decreases of approximately \$458,000 in gross deferred tax liabilities. The \$1.0 million increase in fiscal 2003 is net of an increase of approximately \$3.0 million recorded as deferred tax expense in fiscal 2003. The offsetting decrease of approximately \$2.0 in the valuation allowance results from decreases in gross deferred tax assets of approximately \$1.4 million, and increases of approximately \$600,000 in gross deferred tax liabilities. As of December 31, 2004, approximately \$7.3 million of the valuation allowance reflected above relates to the tax benefits of stock option deductions that will be credited to additional paid-in capital when realized.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (Jobs Act) was enacted. Among other provisions, the Jobs Act provides for a deduction for income from qualified domestic production activities phased in from 2005 to 2010, and a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned abroad. Actuate does not plan to repatriate foreign earnings under the Jobs Act and has not yet determined the impact of the deduction for domestic production activities. Such deduction will first be available to the Company in 2005. At this time, Actuate does not expect that the deduction will have a material impact on its provision for income taxes.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### 12. Geographic Information

Actuate s primary operations are located in the United States. Revenues from international sources relate to export sales, primarily to Europe and Japan. Actuate s revenues by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

	Year	Year ended December 31,			
	2004	2003	2002		
Revenues:					
North America	\$ 82,272	\$ 85,020	\$ 84,523		
Europe	17,516	16,094	19,555		
Asia Pacific and others	4,869	3,341	5,086		
Total	\$ 104,657	\$ 104,455	\$ 109,164		

International sales accounted for 21%, 18% and 23% of Actuate s total revenues in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. No single customer has accounted for 10% or more of total revenues in fiscal years 2004, 2003 or 2002.

#### 13. Contingencies

#### MicroStrategy Lawsuit

In June 2003, the Fairfax County Circuit Court in Fairfax, Virginia, ruled in favor of the Company and two of Actuate s employees on all counts in the trade secret lawsuit filed by MicroStrategy Incorporated. In July 2003, MicroStrategy filed a Notice of Leave to Appeal with the Circuit Court and in September 2003, MicroStrategy filed a Petition for Appeal with the Virginia State Supreme Court. In March 2004, the Virginia State Supreme Court agreed to hear a portion of MicroStrategy s Petition for Appeal and such appeal was heard in June 2004. In September 2004, the Virginia State Supreme Court affirmed the trial court s decision.

SEC Investigation

In January 2004, Actuate was informed that the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) terminated its investigation related to two software license transactions that Actuate completed with Unify Corporation in early 2000 and that no enforcement action has been recommended.

Actuate is also engaged in certain other legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome of such litigation, Actuate believes it has adequate legal defenses and it believes that the ultimate outcome of any of these actions will not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

#### 14. Subsequent Events

In January 2005, the Board of Directors approved an on-going extension of the Company s stock repurchase program. The Company is authorized to repurchase up to \$1.5 million of Actuate common stock on a quarterly basis. In the first quarter of fiscal year 2005, the Company purchased a total of 566,153 shares of common stock for a total value of approximately \$1.5 million under this repurchase program.

# Index to Financial Statements

# ACTUATE CORPORATION

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# 15. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth certain unaudited financial data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2004 (in thousands, except per share data).

		Quarter Ended				
	March 31,	March 31, June 30,			Dec	ember 31,
	2004	2004		2004		2004
Revenues	\$ 25,668	\$ 27,849	\$	23,774	\$	27,366
Income (loss) from operations	\$ (547)	\$ 1,859	\$	(1,376)	\$	1,426
Net income (loss)	\$ (377)	\$ 1,295	\$	(848)	\$	1,228
Net income (loss) per share:						
Basic	\$ (0.01)	\$ 0.02	\$	(0.01)	\$	0.02
Diluted	\$ (0.01)	\$ 0.02	\$	(0.01)	\$	0.02

		Quarter Ended					
	March 31,	June 30,	Sept	tember 30,	Dec	ember 31,	
	2003	2003 2003		2003		2003	
Revenues	\$ 25,130	\$ 26,006	\$	25,900	\$	27,419	
Income (loss) from operations	\$ (1,653)	\$ (208)	\$	(662)	\$	848	
Net loss	\$ (836)	\$ (1,861)	\$	(645)	\$	(1,155)	
Net loss per share:							
Basic	\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.03)	\$	(0.01)	\$	(0.02)	
Diluted	\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.03)	\$	(0.01)	\$	(0.02)	

# Index to Financial Statements

# SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

## (In thousands)

	Balance at beginning of period		Additions charged to other accounts(1)	Deductions	Balance at end of period
Allowance for doubtful accounts:					
Year ended December 31, 2004	\$ 2,277	\$ 145	\$ (288)	\$ (645)	\$ 1,489
Year ended December 31, 2003	3,711	630	747	(2,811)	2,277
Year ended December 31, 2002	6,205	1,225	660	(4,379)	3,711

(1) Represents amounts charged to revenue and deferred revenue for sales returns and other revenue related items.